
 

 
 
 

Notice	is	hereby	given	that	a	special	meeting	(date)	of	the	City	of	Oakland	Budget	
Advisory	Commission	(BAC)	is	scheduled	for	Wednesday,	January	30,	2019		

at	6:00	pm	In	the	Hearing	Room	4,	City	Hall,	2nd		Floor,	at	1	Frank	Ogawa	Plaza.	
	

Commission	Members:		
Lori	Andrus,	Ken	Benson,	Margurite	Fuller,	Ed	Gerber,	Geoffrey	Johnson,		
Vincent	Leung,	Kasheica	Mckinney,	Caitlin	Prendiville	Darin	Ranahan,		

Noelle	Simmons,	Adam	Van	de	Water,	&	Danny	Wan	

City's	Representative:	
Brad	Johnson	–	Finance	Department	

	

Meeting	Agenda:	
1. Administrative	Matters	

i. Welcome	&	Attendance		
	

2. Informational	Presentation	on	the	Results	of	the	Budget	Priorities	Poll.	Please	see	the	
presentation	attached.	[60	minutes]	
	

3. Discussion	regarding	the	City’s	plan	regarding	Other	Post‐Employment	Benefits	(OPEB)	
Actuarial	Accrued	Liability.	This	policy	will	also	be	discussed	the	January	29th	at	the	
Finance	and	Management	Committee.	[30	minutes]	Agenda	materials	include:	

i. A	Staff	Report	on	the	Draft	Policy	
ii. The	Consultant’s	Analysis	
iii. The	Draft	OPEB	Policy	

	
4. Election	of	BAC	Officers	(Vice‐Chair	and	Finance	&	Management	Liaison)	[15	minutes]	

	
5. Updates	on	meetings	with	City	staff	on	pending	and	previously	discussed	topics	[15	

minutes]	
	
6. Open	Forum		

	
7. Discussion	of	Next	Meeting	Dates	and	Subjects	
	
8. Adjournment		
	
	

CITY	OF	OAKLAND
BUDGET	ADVISORY	COMMISSION	



620‐680

Survey Conducted: 
November 13‐15, 2016

2018 City of Oakland Budget 
Priorities Survey

Key findings from a survey of Oakland residents 
conducted December 7‐20, 2018

320‐829



1



2

Why We Conduct the Budget Survey
 The Budget Survey is conducted at the direction of the City’s 

Consolidated Fiscal Policy (CFP).
 The CFP directs the City to conduct a statistically valid survey to 

assessing the public's concerns, needs and priorities prior to the 
development of the biennial budget. 

 It further states that the poll should be representative of Oakland's 
diverse population in terms of race, income, neighborhood, age, 
profession, family size, homeownership/renter‐ship and other 
characteristics. 

 The CFP states that the Budget Survey is basis and tool for the 
Mayor and Council to begin discussing priorities for the coming  
biennial budget cycle



3



4

Research Process
Budget Advisory Commission Meeting to Determine Survey Goals

FM3 Drafts Survey Questionnaire

Budget Advisory Commission Reviews Questionnaire

Budget Bureau Approves Final Questionnaire

FM3 Conducts Survey

FM3 Presents Draft Results to Mayor and Administrative Staff 

FM3 Presents Final Results to Budget Advisory Commission

FM3 Presents Final Results to City Council



















5

 1,595 interviews with randomly selected
Oakland adult residents conducted in
English, Spanish and Chinese (target of
1,200 interviews, but we had a particularly
robust online response)

 Conducted December 7‐20, 2018: online
and via landline/cell phones

 Participants were invited to participate by
phone call, an email, or a postcard

 Margin of sampling error of ±2.5% at the
95% confidence interval (±6.3% ‐ ±6.6% in
each City Council District)

 Due to rounding, some percentages do not
add up to 100%

 Selected comparisons to prior research in
the city in 2017, 2015 (voters only), 2005,
2002 and 2000

Survey Specifications



6

FM3’s Address-based Survey Approach

A city provides FM3 with a 
list of residential addresses

FM3 pulls a random sample of stratified clusters; each 
cluster contains residences with similar geographic 

characteristics (e.g., postal carrier route, zip code, city 
council district, etc.).

FM3 completes one interview in each cluster and uses 
US Census‐derived demographic quotas to ensure the 

sample reflects the overall adult universe.
         

FM3 uses publicly and commercially available 
databases to match phone numbers and email 
addresses to residents living at the addresses.

(XXX) XXX‐XXXX

XXX@XXXX.com

FM3 contacts residents by phone, email and postcard, 
completing phone interviews, and inviting 

email/postcard recipients to take the survey online.



7

88%

8%

3%

English

Spanish

Chinese

Language of Interview

Language of Interview

One in nine took the survey 
in a language other than English.



8



9

Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Gender

QB, QE & QC.

3%

20%

23%

17%

15%

22%

Refused

18‐29

30‐39

40‐49

50‐59

60+

Age

Gender

Race/Ethnicity

2%

50%

48%

Something Else/Refused

Female

Male

9%

29%

25%

21%

17%

Mixed/Other/Refused

White

African American

Latino

Asian or Pacific Islander



10

Education and Household Income

QB, QE & QC.

11%

20%

17%

19%

14%

20%

Refused

$30,000 and under

$30,001‐$60,000

$60,001‐$100,000

$100,001‐$150,000

$150,000 and over

Household Income

Education

1%

27%

27%

24%

21%

Refused

High School or Less

Some College/Business/Associates Degree

Four‐year College Graduates

Post‐Graduate Educated



11Q17 & CCD.

CCD 1
14%

CCD 2
14%

CCD 3
15%

CCD 4
14% CCD 5

14%

CCD 6
14%

CCD 7
15%

City Council District



12

We also categorized respondents as living 
in the “flats” west of I-580, or the hills.

Hills

Flats

Flats 
(west of I‐580)

71%

Hills 
(east of I‐58)

29%

Hills vs. Flats



13

23%

76%

1%

Immigrated

Born in US

Don't know/NA

Q19.

Were you born in the United States or did you 
immigrate to the United States? 

Nearly one-quarter of Oakland 
residents were immigrants.

Who Are Oakland’s 
Adult Immigrants?

 57% of Latino residents and 
59% of Chinese residents

 33% of those earning less 
than $60,000 annually

 48% of those with no more 
than a high school education

 33% of those who have lived 
in the city for 11‐20 years, and 
28% of those living here 21‐40 
years

 25% of flats residents

Who Are Oakland’s 
Adult Immigrants?

 57% of Latino residents and 
59% of Chinese residents

 33% of those earning less 
than $60,000 annually

 48% of those with no more 
than a high school education

 33% of those who have lived 
in the city for 11‐20 years, and 
28% of those living here 21‐40 
years

 25% of flats residents



14

4%

18%

16%

23%

25%

14%

Less than two years

2 to 5 years

6 to 10 years

11 to 20 years

21 to 40 years

41 years or more

Q9.

About how long have you lived in Oakland? 

More than one in five lived in the city fewer 
than six years; twice that share have lived in 

Oakland 21 years or longer.



15

47%

43%

8%

2%

Own

Rent

Live with parents or someone
who owns or rents it

Other

Q10.

Do you own or rent your home?

Respondents were about evenly split 
between owners and renters.



16

Seven percent of respondents reported being 
without permanent housing in the last year.

Q11.

Yes
7%

No/
Don't know/
Refused
93%

In the last year, have you been without 
permanent housing, that is, have you 
slept in a car, outdoors, or stayed 
temporarily with friends or family?

Who Are They?
 A family member has been 

incarcerated (19%)
 Household incomes under 

$30,000 annually (16%)
 Part‐time workers (15%)
 Single adults (13%)
 Residents under 30 (13%)
 Mothers (13%)
 Women with less than a college 

education (12%)

Who Are They?
 A family member has been 

incarcerated (19%)
 Household incomes under 

$30,000 annually (16%)
 Part‐time workers (15%)
 Single adults (13%)
 Residents under 30 (13%)
 Mothers (13%)
 Women with less than a college 

education (12%)



17

Six percent had a household 
member who is or was incarcerated.

Q21.

Is anyone in your household currently or 
formerly incarcerated in jail or prison?

Who Has a Close Tie to an 
Incarcerated Person?

 Housing insecure in the last year 
(17%)

 Men without a college education 
(11%)

 Latino residents (11%)

Who Has a Close Tie to an 
Incarcerated Person?

 Housing insecure in the last year 
(17%)

 Men without a college education 
(11%)

 Latino residents (11%)
Yes
6%

No/
Don't know/
Refused
94%



18

67%

36%

28%

27%

22%

14%

11%

4%

2%

Driving alone

Riding BART

Walking

Services like Uber or Lyft

Riding buses

Carpool

Biking with your own bicycle

Scooters like Bird or Lime
Biking with a share service like

Lime or Go Bike

Q16.

Which of the following modes of transportation do you use regularly?
(Multiple Responses Accepted) 

Two-thirds drive regularly; more than one-
quarter also ride BART, walk, or ride-hail.



19

One-third of respondents had 
a child under 18 living at home.

Q13.

Yes
32%

No/
Refused
68%

Are there any children under the 
age of 18 living in your household?



20

50%

9%

9%

2%

17%

6%

5%

2%

Employed full‐time

Employed part‐time

Self‐employed or work from home

A homemaker who does not work 
outside the home

Retired

A student

Unemployed

Refused

Q14.

What is your current employment status? 

Half of respondents were employed 
full-time outside the home.



21

Among those who worked outside the home, 
most worked outside the city as well.

Q15.

Yes
43%

No/
Don't know/
Refused
56%

Is your work located in the City of Oakland?
(Asked of Full‐ and Part‐Time Employed Residents Only, N=948)



22



23

The Big Picture
 While residents continue to feel good about the overall quality of 

life here in Oakland, they are slightly less upbeat than they were 
nearly two years ago.  

 This also applies to how they view the provision of city services –
not appreciably more negative, but less enthusiastically positive.

 Affordable housing and homelessness appear to be contributing to 
these modestly eroding impressions, and residents clearly want to 
see them emerge as top budget priorities.

 Both conceptually, and especially when it comes to specific services 
and programs, residents would rather pay more to maintain or 
improve city services versus making cuts.

 Residents also clearly feel it is important for the City to make 
budget investments to improve the equitable provision of services 
for communities of color.



24

Important Numbers

Rate life in Oakland as “excellent” or “good” – down 6 points 
since January 2017

Consider homelessness or housing the top issue they would
like to see address in the City’s next budget

Rate city service provision “excellent” or “good” – down 9 points
since January 2017

Say they follow City budget issues “extremely,” “very” 
or “somewhat closely” – down 9 points since Jan. 2017

52%
Would rather raises taxes or fees to balance the City’s 
budget, compared to 35% whom would rather make cuts

64%

24%

63%

46%



25



26

Excellent/
Good
64%

Q1.

Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: 
Is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

Nearly two-thirds of residents rate Oakland 
as an “excellent” or “good” place to live.

16%

48%

27%

8%

Excellent

Good

Only fair

Poor



27

Excellent/
Good

64%

70%

70%

61%

64%

65%

Q1. Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

These ratings are more consistent with 
2000 and 2002 than with 2015 and 2017.

16%

27%

26%

19%

19%

18%

48%

43%

44%

42%

45%

47%

27%

21%

22%

30%

27%

28%

8%

8%

9%

8%

8%

6%

2018

2017

2015

2005

2002

2000

Excellent Good Only fair Poor DK/NA



28

Excellent/
Good
24%

Q3.

How would you rate the overall job being done by Oakland city government in 
providing services to the people who live here: excellent, good, only fair or poor?

Half of residents rate city services as 
“only fair;” similar proportions rate them 

as “excellent/good” or “poor.”

1%

23%

50%

22%

4%

Excellent

Good

Only fair

Poor

Don’t know/NA



29

Excellent/
Good

24%

35%

32%

30%

40%

34%

Q3. How would you rate the overall job being done by Oakland City government in providing services to the people who live here: excellent, good, only fair or poor?

This is the first time since 2000 that 
fewer than 30% of residents feel 

services are at least “good.”

5%

23%

31%

28%

28%

35%

30%

50%

41%

44%

49%

42%

49%

22%

20%

18%

18%

14%

13%

6%

2018

2017

2015

2005

2002

2000

Excellent Good Only fair Poor DK/NA



30



31

2%

8%

36%

33%

20%

1%

Extremely closely

Very closely

Somewhat closely

Not too closely

Not at all closely

Don’t know/NA

Ext./Very 
Closely
10%

Not Too/
Not at All Closely

53%

Q4.

How closely do you follow issues related to the Oakland City budget? 

A majority of Oakland residents
do not follow the City budget closely.

At Least 
Somewhat 
Closely
46%



32

2%

8%

36%

33%

20%

1%

Extremely closely

Very closely

Somewhat closely

Not too closely

Not at all closely

Don’t know/NA

4%

15%

38%

25%

17%

1%

Extremely closely

Very closely

Somewhat closely

Not too closely

Not at all closely

Don’t know/NA

Ext./Very 
Closely
19%

Not Too/
Not at All 
Closely
42%

Q4. How closely do you follow issues related to the Oakland City budget? 

Half as many claim to follow the budget 
“extremely” or “very” closely as did in 2017.

Ext./Very 
Closely
10%

Not Too/
Not at All 
Closely
53%

January 2017 December 2018



33



34

25%
22%

11%
10%

6%
3%

10%
3%

14%
14%

10%
11%

9%
6%

4%

19%
5%

39%

36%

21%

21%

15%

9%

4%

4%

4%

3%

3%

29%

8%

Housing costs/affordability/housing crisis
Homelessness

Crime/Violence
Education/public schools

Street and sidewalk maintenance
Cleanup streets/public places/trash removal

Police Protection/Response Time
Infrastructure (not streets)

Jobs 
Public transportation

Cost of living/increase wages
Other

Don't know/NA

1st Choice 2nd Choice

Homelessness and housing are clearly the 
top issues residents want to see prioritized.

Q2.

In the upcoming two‐year budget, what are the two most important issues facing Oakland 
residents that you would like to see prioritized in the City government budget? 

(Open‐Ended) 

63% 
mentioned 
one of 

these two 
categories



35
Q2. In the upcoming two‐year budget, what are the two most important issues facing Oakland residents that you would like to see prioritized in the City government 
budget?

Issues 2000 2002 2005 2015 2017 2018

Housing costs/
Affordability/Housing crisis 8% 12% 5% 10% 26% 25%

Homelessness 3% 4% 2% 2% 7% 22%

Crime/Violence 19% 26% 22% 20% 15% 11%

Education/Public schools 33% 14% 35% 17% 13% 10%

Street and sidewalk 
maintenance 3% 4% 4% 8% 6% 6%

Jobs/Keeping businesses 5% 3% 4% 7% 3% 0%

(1st Choice; 3% and Above Shown)

Housing emerged as a key concern in 2017 
and has remained one; homelessness is now 
named a top issue by three times as many.



36

Next, respondents were presented with a list 
of services and asked to make trade-offs.

Q5.

I am going to mention some of the
services the City provides its
residents. Every two years, the City
faces hard choices about these
services in order to balance its
budget. After you hear each one,
please tell me whether you think
cuts should be made to that service
in order to balance the budget, or
whether you would be willing to pay
additional taxes or fees to maintain
or improve that service.

I am going to mention some of the
services the City provides its
residents. Every two years, the City
faces hard choices about these
services in order to balance its
budget. After you hear each one,
please tell me whether you think
cuts should be made to that service
in order to balance the budget, or
whether you would be willing to pay
additional taxes or fees to maintain
or improve that service.



37

Then respondents were pushed further...

Q5.

Willing to pay additional 
taxes or fees to maintain 
or improve a service

Cuts should be made 
to a service in order 
to balance the budget

Large cuts 
to that 
service

Just some 
cuts to that 
service

They were then asked if they 
would you be willing to make…

Significantly 
more to 
improve 

that service

A little more 
to maintain 
that service

They were then asked if they 
would be willing to pay…

If they were… If they thought…

OR OR



38

49%

26%

54%

38%

38%

28%

37%

28%

32%

35%

57%

29%

43%

41%

51%

41%

50%

44%

6%

7%

6%

6%

8%

7%

8%

8%

11%

7%

8%

7%

10%

11%

11%

10%

11%

9%

5%

Repair of potholes in city streets and 
broken sidewalks

Fire and emergency medical response

^Youth programs at city parks and 
recreation centers

^Clean‐up and removal of illegal 
dumping

^Fire prevention

^Violence prevention and intervention 
services

Disaster preparedness

^Police 911 response

Pay Significantly More to Improve Pay Some to Maintain DK/NA Some Cuts Large Cuts
Pay More 
Minus Cuts

74%

73%

71%

68%

65%

65%

64%

64%

63%

Q5. I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard choices about these services in order to balance its 
budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or 
fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample

Key areas of desired investment included 
street repairs and homeless services.

Providing services to homeless populations 
such as mental health, health, job training, 

and anti‐addiction support



39

49%

47%

26%

25%

41%

49%

33%

25%

22%

29%

30%

51%

52%

35%

26%

40%

47%

51%

6%

8%

7%

7%

8%

8%

11%

13%

11%

9%

8%

13%

13%

12%

11%

12%

11%

12%

7%

7%

5%

6%

Subsidized permanent housing for 
homeless populations

Maintenance of public parks, street 
medians and other open space

Maintenance of public buildings like 
libraries and recreation centers

Child care and Head Start programs

Affordable housing development and 
housing programs

Police investigations to solve crimes

Timely response to resident requests for 
services

Programs at senior centers

Pay Significantly More to Improve Pay Some to Maintain DK/NA Some Cuts Large Cuts Pay More 
Minus Cuts

62%

62%

61%

61%

59%

57%

57%

57%

57%

Q5. I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard choices about these services in order to balance its 
budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or 
fees to maintain or improve that service. Split Sample

Nearly half would pay significantly more 
to support other housing investments.

Providing temporary shelter and sanitation 
such as tough shed communities, mobile 
housing, and traditional shelter beds to 

homeless populations



40

35%

33%

19%

34%

22%

22%

18%

28%

25%

38%

41%

54%

36%

45%

49%

49%

37%

41%

7%

6%

9%

11%

15%

8%

9%

9%

7%

15%

14%

14%

13%

13%

17%

20%

18%

23%

5%

6%

6%

5%

8%

^Job training and employment programs

Police patrols in neighborhoods

Street lighting in your neighborhood

Reducing and preparing for climate 
change

Library services and hours

Flood prevention and storm drain 
maintenance

Providing anti‐eviction and tenant 
support services

Improvements to walking infrastructure 
for pedestrians

Pay Significantly More to Improve Pay Some to Maintain DK/NA Some Cuts Large Cuts Pay More 
Minus Cuts

54%

54%

54%

51%

49%

49%

44%

39%

39%

Q5. I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard choices about these services in order to balance its 
budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or 
fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample

One-third would pay more to improve job programs, 
police patrols, and climate change preparation.

Proactive delivery of services and 
infrastructure maintenance before a 

request from residents



41

34%

23%

27%

23%

22%

24%

23%

15%

16%

29%

41%

35%

39%

40%

34%

34%

32%

29%

10%

11%

12%

9%

8%

11%

10%

11%

10%

15%

20%

19%

25%

21%

24%

24%

28%

31%

11%

6%

7%

9%

8%

9%

14%

15%

Rent control enforcement and tenant 
protection

Programs to retain Oakland businesses

Addressing abandoned homes and 
businesses

Neighborhood traffic improvements

Artistic and cultural activities and events

Addressing speeding and unsafe driving 
in neighborhoods

Attracting new businesses to Oakland

Removal of graffiti

Improvements to bicycle infrastructure

Pay Significantly More to Improve Pay Some to Maintain DK/NA Some Cuts Large Cuts Pay More 
Minus Cuts

37%

37%

36%

33%

33%

25%

24%

3%

0%

Q5. I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard choices about these services in order to balance its 
budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or 
fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample

Graffiti removal and bicycle infrastructure 
improvements were the lowest priorities.



42

Top “Pay More” Services

Q5. I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard choices about these services in order to balance its 
budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or 
fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample

Around 50% would “pay significantly more” 
to improve…

Around 50% would pay “a little more” 
to maintain…

• Providing services to homeless 
populations such as mental health, health, 
job training, and anti‐addiction support 
(54%)

• Repair of potholes in city streets and 
broken sidewalks (49%)

• Subsidized permanent housing for 
homeless populations (49%)

• Affordable housing development and 
housing programs (49%)

• Providing temporary shelter and 
sanitation such as tough shed 
communities, mobile housing, and 
traditional shelter beds to homeless 
populations (47%)

• Fire and emergency medical response 
(57%)

• Street lighting in your neighborhood (54%)
• Maintenance of public buildings like 

libraries and recreation centers (52%)
• Fire prevention (51%)
• Maintenance of public parks, street 

medians and other open space (51%)
• Programs at senior centers (51%)
• Disaster preparedness (50%)
• Library services and hours (49%)
• Flood prevention and storm drain 

maintenance (49%)
• Timely response to resident requests for 

services (47%)



43

The share willing to invest more in top 
priorities has changed little recently.

Q5 b, c, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or 
whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey

2015 2017 2018
Total Willing to Pay More

84%

83%

81%

79%

78%

77%

81%

83%

82%

75%

80%

75%

77%

76%

67%

80%

66%

Repair of potholes in city streets and broken 
sidewalks

*Providing services to homeless populations 
such as mental health, health, job training, 

and anti‐addiction support

^Youth programs at city parks and recreation 
centers

^Clean‐up and removal of illegal dumping

^Violence prevention and intervention 
services

Maintenance of public parks, street medians 
and other open space



44

Public building maintenance has become 
more important as context was added.

Q5 b, c, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or 
whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey

2015 2017 2018

77%

76%

74%

73%

73%

72%

72%

60%

80%

79%

81%

75%

71%

66%

49%

76%

75%

77%

66%

65%

62%

*Maintenance of public buildings like libraries 
and recreation centers

Child care and Head Start programs

*Affordable housing development and 
housing programs

^Job training and employment programs

Programs at senior centers

Timely response to resident requests for 
services

Street lighting in your neighborhood

Total Willing to Pay More



45

Climate change preparation was an 
emerging area for increased investment.

Q5 b, c, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether 
you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey

2015 2017 2018
71%

67%

63%

62%

62%
46%

70%

74%

70%

70%
61%

56%

51%

61%

64%

59%

51%

53%

48%

43%

Library services and hours

Flood prevention and storm drain 
maintenance

Artistic and cultural activities and events

Addressing abandoned homes and 
businesses

*Neighborhood traffic improvements

Removal of graffiti

Reducing and preparing for climate 
change

Total Willing to Pay More



46

35%

22%

17%

13%

13%

Moderately raise taxes and fees now

Keep taxes, fees and services the same 
now, but cut services significantly in 

the next 10 years
Keep taxes, fees and services the same 
now, but significantly raise taxes and 

fees in the next 10 years

Moderately cut services now

Don’t know

Q8. 

Over the next ten years, the City of Oakland will face tens of millions of dollars in budget 
shortfalls for employee health and retirement benefits. To keep a balanced budget, the City will 
have to raise taxes and fees or make cuts to City services. I am going to read you four potential 

options, and I would like you to tell me which comes closest to what you would prefer. 

Given the choice, a plurality preferred 
moderately raising taxes and fees now to 

cutting services or putting off action.



47

Taken together, a plurality favored acting 
now, whether making cuts or raising taxes.

Q8. Over the next ten years, the City of Oakland will face tens of millions of dollars in budget shortfalls for employee health and retirement benefits. To keep a balanced 
budget, the City will have to raise taxes and fees or make cuts to City services. I am going to read you four potential options, and I would like you to tell me which comes 
closest to what you would prefer. 



48

By 17 points, Oakland residents would 
rather the City raise taxes and fees.

Q8. Over the next ten years, the City of Oakland will face tens of millions of dollars in budget shortfalls for employee health and retirement benefits. To keep a balanced 
budget, the City will have to raise taxes and fees or make cuts to City services. I am going to read you four potential options, and I would like you to tell me which comes 
closest to what you would prefer. 



49



50

9%

31%

57%

3%

A great deal

A little

Nothing at all

Don't know/NA

Total 
Heard
40%

Q6.

In 2015, the City adopted an ordinance creating the Department of Race and Equity. 
Their mission is to create a city where our diversity has been maintained, racial 

disparities have been eliminated and racial equity has been achieved. Before taking this 
survey, how much had you read, heard or seen about this work by the City of Oakland? 

One in ten said they have heard a great deal 
about the Department of Race and Equity.

Most Aware:
 Household member has been 

incarcerated (15%)
 African‐American residents 

(14%)
 Retirees (13%)
 Asian/Pacific Islanders who 

are not Chinese (13%)
 41+ years in Oakland (13%)

Most Aware:
 Household member has been 

incarcerated (15%)
 African‐American residents 

(14%)
 Retirees (13%)
 Asian/Pacific Islanders who 

are not Chinese (13%)
 41+ years in Oakland (13%)

However, in no group did 
more than 15% say they have 

heard a “great deal” 



51

Next, residents were given a brief bit of 
context about the City’s equity efforts, and 

asked to prioritize selected outcomes.

Q7.

Through its budget, the City can invest more in equity for communities of
color, that is, people who are African‐American, Latino, Asian or Pacific
Islander, American Indian or Native American, or some other identity that
is not white. I am going to read you a list of different categories of City
programs and services, and I would like you to tell me whether you think it
is extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too
important to invest in improving equity for each one.

Through its budget, the City can invest more in equity for communities of
color, that is, people who are African‐American, Latino, Asian or Pacific
Islander, American Indian or Native American, or some other identity that
is not white. I am going to read you a list of different categories of City
programs and services, and I would like you to tell me whether you think it
is extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too
important to invest in improving equity for each one.



52

47%

48%

51%

44%

37%

35%

27%

34%

11%

11%

12%

14%

7%

5%

Reducing violent crime in 
communities of color

Improving health outcomes 
for children of color

Reducing police use of force 
against people of color

Increasing job opportunities 
for people of color

Ext. Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA Ext./Very 
Impt.

84%

83%

78%

78%

Q7 a, b, f & h. Through its budget, the City can invest more in equity for communities of color, that is, people who are African‐American, Latino, Asian or Pacific Islander, 
American Indian or Native American, or some other identity that is not white. I am going to read you a list of different categories of City programs and services, and I 
would like you to tell me whether you think it is extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important to invest in improving equity for each 
one.

Reducing violent crime and police use of 
force, and improving health outcomes for 

children, were the most important priorities. 



53

42%

43%

40%

24%

32%

30%

31%

30%

15%

15%

17%

25%

7%

7%

9%

15%

6%

6%

Addressing homelessness 
among people of color

Reducing contact with the 
criminal justice system for 

youth of color

Addressing housing 
displacement amoung people 

of color

Improving pedestrian safety 
for people of color

Ext. Impt. Very Impt. Smwt. Impt. Not Too Impt. DK/NA Ext./Very 
Impt.

74%

73%

71%

54%

Q7 c, d, e & g. Through its budget, the City can invest more in equity for communities of color, that is, people who are African‐American, Latino, Asian or Pacific Islander, 
American Indian or Native American, or some other identity that is not white. I am going to read you a list of different categories of City programs and services, and I 
would like you to tell me whether you think it is extremely important, very important, somewhat important, or not too important to invest in improving equity for each 
one.

Improving pedestrian safety for 
people of color was a less-urgent 

priority in comparison.



54



55Q1. Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

Quality of Life (% Excellent/Good)

Homeowners, hills residents and 
higher income residents give higher 

ratings to quality of life.

64%

73%
58%

36%
67%

51%
68%

79%

78%
58%

All Residents

Homeowners
Renters

Housing Insecure in the Last Year
Not Housing Insecure

<$60,000
$60,000‐$100,000

$100,000+

Hills
Flats



56

64%

54%
73%

66%
59%

69%

44%
62%

67%
77%

68%
50%

All Residents

18‐29
30‐39
40‐49
50‐64
65+

Latino Residents
African‐American Residents

Asian Residents
White Residents

Born in the U.S.
Immigrants

Q1. Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

Quality of Life (% Excellent/Good)

Latino residents give lower quality of life 
ratings, as do residents under 30.



57

64%

53%

65%

47%

58%

77%

82%

All Residents

Household Member Experienced 
Incarceration

Household Member Did Not

High School Education or Less

Some College Education

College Graduate

Post‐Graduate Educated

Q1. Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

Quality of Life (% Excellent/Good)

Residents with higher levels of formal 
education offered higher quality of life ratings.



58

64%

84%

68%

69%

70%

53%

49%

55%

All Residents

City Council District 1

City Council District 2

City Council District 3

City Council District 4

City Council District 5

City Council District 6

City Council District 7

Q1. Generally speaking, how would you rate Oakland as a place to live: is it an excellent place to live, a good place, only fair, or a poor place to live?

Quality of Life (% Excellent/Good)

Quality of life perceptions varied widely 
between city council districts.



59Q3. How would you rate the overall job being done by Oakland city government in providing services to the people who live here: excellent, good, only fair or poor?

City Service Rating (% Excellent/Good)

Hills residents gave slightly higher ratings 
for the quality of City services.

24%

15%
25%

31%
22%

23%
16%

28%
31%

17%
25%

All Residents

Housing Insecure in the Last Year
Not Housing Insecure

Hills
Flats

Latino Residents
African‐American Residents

Asian Residents
White Residents

Household Member Experienced Incarceration
Household Member Did Not



60

10%

13%
6%

10%
15%

9%
6%

18%
9%

All Residents

Homeowner
Renters

Latino Residents
African‐American Residents

Asian Residents
White Residents

Household Member Experienced Incarceration
Household Member Did Not

Q4. How closely do you follow issues related to the Oakland City budget? 

Attention to the Budget (% Extremely/Very Closely)

African-Americans, homeowners, and those 
with a tie to an incarcerated person paid 

closer attention to the budget.



61

10%

6%
8%

12%
15%

11%

6%
7%

12%
11%

15%
‐10% 5% 20%

All Residents

18‐29
30‐39
40‐49
50‐64
65+

<6 Years In Oakland
6‐10 Years in Oakland

11‐20 Years in Oakland
21‐40 Years in Oakland
41+ Years in Oakland

Q4. How closely do you follow issues related to the Oakland City budget? 

Attention to the Budget (% Extremely/Very Closely)

Longer-term residents of Oakland were more 
likely to report interest in the budget.



62

9%

8%

14%

7%

5%

15%

8%

All Residents

Latino Residents

African‐American Residents

Asian Residents

White Residents

Household Member Experienced Incarceration

Household Member Did Not

Q4. How closely do you follow issues related to the Oakland City budget? 

Awareness of Department of Race and Equity (% Great Deal)

African-American Oaklanders were 
more likely to be aware of the 

Department of Race and Equity.



63

Differences on the budget 
question by demographic 
groups were mostly minor.

• Households earning $60,000 annually or 
less were slightly more likely than the 
wealthiest households to prefer “cuts 
now.” The wealthiest households ($100K+) 
were a bit more likely to say they would 
prefer significant cuts later. However, 
overall, “raise taxes and fees now” was the 
top choice across income levels.

• Among African‐American, white and 
Asian‐Pacific Islander Oaklanders, raising 
taxes and fees now was the clear strongest 
preference; distinctions among options 
were much narrower for Latino residents.

• Differences between residents of the hills 
and flats were within the margin of error.



64

Street repairs continued to be 
a priority for further investment.

Q5 c, b, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or 
whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey

2015 2017 2018
Pay More Minus Cuts

74%

71%

68%

65%

64%

61%

68%

74%

72%

58%

69%

58%

57%

55%

38%

65%

36%

Repair of potholes in city streets and broken 
sidewalks

*Providing services to homeless populations 
such as mental health, health, job training, 

and anti‐addiction support

^Youth programs at city parks and recreation 
centers

^Clean‐up and removal of illegal dumping

^Violence prevention and intervention 
services

Maintenance of public parks, street medians 
and other open space



65

Desire to invest in job training programs 
declined compared with 2017.

Q5 c, b, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or 
whether you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey

2015 2017 2018
Pay More Minus Cuts

61%

59%

57%

57%

57%

54%

54%

36%

71%

67%

61%

56%

71%

45%

5%

56%

53%

38%

40%

57%

31%

*Maintenance of public buildings like libraries 
and recreation centers

Child care and Head Start programs

*Affordable housing development and 
housing programs

Programs at senior centers

Timely response to resident requests for 
services

^Job training and employment programs

Street lighting in your neighborhood



66

Climate change preparation was an 
emerging area for increased investment.

Q5 c, b, d, f, g, h, k, l, n, o, q, r, w, x. z. aa, dd, ee, gg & ii.  I am going to mention some of the services the City provides its residents. Every two years, the City faces hard 
choices about these services in order to balance its budget. Please tell me whether you think cuts should be made to that service in order to balance the budget, or whether 
you would be willing to pay additional taxes or fees to maintain or improve that service. ^Not Part of Split Sample *Slight Wording Difference in Previous Survey°‐9% in 2015

2015 2017 2018

Pay More Minus Cuts

51%

49%

44%

36%

33%

33%

3%

35%

59%

53%

38%

50%

28%

15%

31%

25%

14%

6%

3%

Reducing and preparing for 
climate change

Library services and hours

Flood prevention and storm drain 
maintenance

Addressing abandoned homes 
and businesses

Artistic and cultural activities and 
events

*Neighborhood traffic 
improvements

°Removal of graffiti



67

Examining Specific Budget Priorities 
by Demographic Subgroup

 Using the “total willing to pay more” minus “total willing to see
cuts,” we examined more closely residents’ budget preferences by
major demographic groups.

 Among residents overall, this margin was highest for repairing
potholes and broken sidewalks, at +74%. Therefore, we used a
margin of +75% in favor of paying more as a benchmark.

 Programs and services having to do with housing stood out as high
priorities to residents with household incomes under $30 and
renters. In addition, they ranked highly in a few other groups:
 Affordable housing: tie to an incarcerated person or resident of CCD 2
 Temporary housing for the homeless: CCD 6, non‐Chinese API, and under 30
 Subsidized permanent housing for the homeless: Non‐Chinese API,
household incomes between $100K‐$150K, and African‐American residents

 Rent control enforcement: housing insecure residents



68

Continued
 Public safety‐related items stood out to a variety of groups,

depending on their focus:
 Police 911 response: wealthy and white residents
 Police investigations: residents who took the survey in Chinese
 Neighborhood police patrols: residents who took the survey in Spanish, and
residents ages 50+, especially men

 Violence prevention: HH income $60‐75K, non‐voters
 Fire prevention: CCD 2 and 4 – more specifically in the hills, and white
residents

 Economic programs like job training and retaining existing
businesses stood out most to those who have recently been
housing insecure.

 Social services varied in their importance to different people:
 Child care: HH income $30K, women (especially those under 50)
 Youth programs: renters, residents under 30, African‐Americans, and those
who have lived <6 years in Oakland

 Senior programs: ages 75+



69

Continued
 Dealing with blight and services more generally stood out to much

narrower groups in general.
 Timely response to service requests: CCD 5
 Maintaining public buildings: under 30, bike/walk
 Maintenance of parks/medians/open space: 6‐10 years in Oakland,
bike/walk/bus, CCD 2, and whites

 Cleaning up dumping: HH income $150K+, CCD 2
 And lastly, disaster preparedness and climate change were ranked especially
highly by those who have lived in the city fewer than 6 years. Disaster
preparedness was also especially important to Republicans, renters, and
people who took the survey in Spanish.



70



71

Conclusions
 Overall, Oakland residents continue to largely enjoy the City’s quality of life, though a

bit less than in recent years.
 Homeowners, residents with higher levels of income and education, white residents, and

hills residents are more likely to hold positive views.
 Residents with comparatively less positive views include renters, residents with at most

high school degrees, lower‐income residents, Latino residents, immigrants, flats residents,
and those in households with current/former incarcerated members.

 At the same time, they give middling reviews of City service provision – strong
majorities see room for improvement overall.

 Housing and homelessness are overwhelmingly the top concerns for residents,
outstripping any other priority by a wide margin.

 Residents prefer paying more to maintain or improve a wide variety of City services
and programs, with street repairs, youth programs, and services for the homeless at
the top of the list.

 When it comes to communities of color, City residents clearly favor increased
investments, with top priorities having to do with reducing violence and police use of
force, and improving health outcomes for children.

 Few pay particular attention to the budget process, and most are not yet aware of
the work of the Department of Race and Equity.



For more information, contact:

1999 Harrison St., Suite 2020
Oakland, CA 94612

Phone (510) 451‐9521
Fax (510) 451‐0384 

Curt@FM3research.com

Miranda@FM3research.com



FILED
OFFICE OF THE CST i CLEfi* 

OAKlAND !

2019 jan 18 ah sAo&ENDA REPORT i
CITY OF OAKLAND

FROM: Katano Kasaine
Director of Finance

TO: Sabrina B. Landreth
City Administrator

i

SUBJECT: OPEB Funding Policy DATE: January 7, 2019 !

City Administrator 
Approval_______

Date llkM
RECOMMENDATION

Staff Recommends That The City Council Adopt A Resolution Adopting The Other Post- 
Employment Benefits Funding Policy Of The City Of Oakland.

i

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The attached study titled, “Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Funding Analysis and 
Policy” (Attachment A) was jointly prepared by independent consultants PFM Group Consulting 
LLC (PFM) and Cheiron, Inc. in response to the City Council’s request for the development of a 
plan to address the City of Oakland’s (City) significant OPEB unfunded liabilities. The report 
provides significant detail on the challenges facing the City, benchmarks the benefits provided 
to City employees against regional and other large public employers, and provides a financial 
framework for achieving a more sustainable retiree health benefits program over a long-term 
period.

The City’s current approach to funding OPEB is not sustainable even with recent reforms from 
the Police and Fire. It is critical that the city adopt a policy to address the problem of rising 
OPEB liabilities because pay-as-you-go is not a sustainable option long-term. OPEB funding 
policy and progress are becoming increasingly important among the factors that rating agencies 
(Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s and Fitch Ratings) use to evaluate a City’s long-term fiscal 
capacity and creditworthiness. A large OPEB obligation and no policy in place to sufficiently 
address the unfunded liabilities is view as a credit weakness to rating agencies. A lower credit 
rating could result in higher borrowing costs to the City and limits the access to the credit 
market.

Item:
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019



Sabrina B. Landreth, City Administrator
Subject: OPEB Funding Policy
Date: January 7. 2019________________ Page 2

Below are some highlights of the challenges of funding retirement costs from ratings reports 
issued specific to City of Oakland in 2018:

Moody’s Investors Service, “City of Oakland, CA, Update to Credit Analysis” (April 19, 2018)

• “Oakland has a large unfunded OPEB liability of $860.0 million, an exceptionally high 
238.3% of covered payroll, as of the July 1, 2015 actuarial valuation date."

• “Factors that could lead to a downgrade: Inability to manage retirement costs. ”

S&P Global Ratings, “Summary: Oakland, California; Appropriations; General Obligation” (April 
20, 2018)

• “In our opinion, a credit weakness is Oakland's large pension and OPEB obligation, 
without a plan in place that we think will sufficiently address the obligation."

In addition, by adopting the proposed policy will address some key concerns outlined in the 
Final Report of the FY 2017-18 Alameda County Grand Jury.

• “The city of Oakland currently has no meaningful plan to address its.. .unfunded OPEB 
liability, jeopardizing the city’s long-term financial viability...

• The city of Oakland must develop and implement a long-term comprehensive plan to 
address its... unfunded OPEB liability.

• Any long-term OPEB plan must include discussion of additional city funding and 
substantial structural change in benefits that are responsible for these growing 
liabilities."

Based on the recommendations of the independent consultants, Staff developed the “City of 
Oakland Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Funding Policy” (the “OPEB Funding Policy”) 
which is included as Attachment B, herein. If adopted by City Council, the recommended City 
of Oakland OPEB Policy provides the City with a balanced plan, as called for by the rating 
agencies and Alameda County Grand Jury, to place the OPEB program on a sustainable path 
toward stable funding

BACKGROUND LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

Resolution No. 87208 C.M.S., which was approved by the City Council on May 29, 2018, 
directed the City Administrator to develop an OPEB Funding Policy for the City Council’s 
consideration.

Item:__________
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019



Sabrina B. Landreth, City Administrator
Subject: OPEB Funding Policy
Date: January 7. 2019_______ ________ Page 3

ANALYSIS AND POLICY ALTERNATIVES

A detailed analysis of the OPEB funding challenge is included in Attachment A, which was 
prepared jointly by PFM and Cheiron, Inc. with input from Staff. The report culminates in an 
OPEB Funding Policy that was developed by Staff based on independent consultants’ 
recommendations as Attachment B, herein. Key components of the OPEB Funding Policy are 
summarized below and are further expanded in the PFM-Cheiron report:

Program Objectives

Affordable in the near-term, without crowding out the City’s capacity to deliver quality 
services to the public or to provide reasonable salary increases to active employees;

Sustainable over the long-term, ensuring that benefits will be secure and reliable for 
career employees throughout retirement, with substantial intergenerational equity for 
taxpayers in regard to the funding of benefit costs; and,

Competitive, to support effective recruitment and retention of a strong municipal 
workforce.

Funding Goals

Maintain a stable or increasing ratio of trust assets to accrued liabilities, with the goal of 
reaching a 100percent funded ratio (full funding) for all explicit subsidy benefits.

Develop a pattern of stable and regular contribution rates when expressed as a 
percentage of member payroll as measured by valuations prepared in accordance with 
the principles of practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board.

Manage the cost of benefits through labor-management partnership and collective 
bargaining to reach and maintain an affordable and sustainable level of coverage. !!

Benefit Program

The recommended OPEB Funding Policy affirms that specific benefit structures will be 
subject to collective bargaining for represented employees.

Within this context, the OPEB Funding Policy calls for regular reviews of the City’s 
retiree healthcare benefits relative to offerings among other Bay Area governments and 
large California cities.

As retiree healthcare benefits are periodically reviewed and renegotiated, the OPEB 
Funding Policy also sets forth the following principles as guidelines for pursuit of any 
adjustments:

Item:
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019



Sabrina B. Landreth, City Administrator
Subject: OPEB Funding Policy
Date: January 7, 2019________________ Page 4

iUntil the City’s OPEB Trust is fully funded, the affordability and sustainability of 
the City’s retiree medical benefits offerings would be evaluated on the basis of 
whether the City’s actuarially determined contribution (ADC) for explicit subsidy 
benefits can be fully funded with a combination of full pay as you go (“pay-go”) 
funding plus a supplemental employer contribution of no higher than 2.5percent 
of payroll.

Periodic adjustments to benefits will be pursued as required to ensure full funding 
and plan sustainability. If the ADC for explicit subsidy benefits exceeds pay-go 
costs plus a supplemental City payment of 2.5percent of payroll, then the City 
would seek to negotiate approaches to modify benefits to close this sustainability 
gap. Among the potential approaches for closing this gap, the City may pursue 
retiree benefit modifications and/or contributions toward future OPEB coverage 
from active employees.

OPEB Funding Policy for Sustainable Benefits

■ At a minimum, the OPEB Funding Policy reaffirms that the City will fully fund its “pay-go” 
commitments to eligible retirees and beneficiaries for the benefits they receive each 
year.

■ Until the Trust is 100percent funded for explicit subsidy benefits, however, the OPEB 
Funding Policy calls for City to make contributions in excess of the annual pay-go cost 
for current retirees and beneficiaries toward achieving full funding, as outlined below:

Beginning in FY 2019-20, the City would contribute an additional 2.5percent of 
payroll above pay-go into the OPEB Trust on an annual basis.

If the sum of annual pay-go costs plus the supplemental 2.5percent of payroll 
contribution is less than the ADC for explicit subsidy payments in that same year, 
then the City would seek to negotiate benefit and/or employee contributions 
sufficient to close this sustainability gap.

In addition to the above annual contributions, the City would continue to make 
further one-time contributions to the OPEB Trust consistent with the 
Consolidated Fiscal Policy, when Excess Real Estate Transfer Tax (RETT) 
thresholds are met. This approach will help to build OPEB funding more rapidly, 
thereby improving plan stability and reducing future contribution requirements.

■ In the event of a severe economic downturn, the City would seek to continue the 
above payment structure in full. If certain revenue decline thresholds as defined 
in the recommended OPEB Funding Policy are met, however, and if authorized via 
Council Resolution, the City could temporarily reduce or defer its supplemental 
payments above pay-go until the City’s revenues have recovered.

Item:
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019



Sabrina B. Landreth, City Administrator
Subject: OPEB Funding Policy
Date: January 7, 2019________________ Page 5

Projected Results

If adopted by City Council, the recommended OPEB Funding Policy provides the City with a 
balanced plan, placing the OPEB program on a sustainable path toward stable funding.

Based on projections by Cheiron, Inc. using assumptions consistent with the City’s current 
actuarial valuations and the proposed OPEB Funding Policy, this approach is projected to 
achieve the following progress:

f

■ The OPEB Funding Policy would be projected to build the City’s overall OPEB funded 
ratio steadily from 3.0percent in FY 2018-19 to approximately 25.0percent within a 
decade, and to over 50.0percent in less than 20 years.

■ The OPEB Funding Policy would increase the City’s funded ratio for the explicit subsidy 
component of the OPEB liability from 4.0percent in FY 2018-19 to more than one-third 
funded within a decade, to over 75.0percent funded within 20 years, and to full funding in 
less than 25 years.

• With additional resources from any Excess Real Estate Transfer Tax transfers under 
the Consolidated Fiscal Policy and/or further negotiated benefit adjustments, full 
funding could potentially be reached even sooner.

Given that the City’s current OPEB funding shortfall has been decades in the making, such 
steady progress toward achieving true sustainability, improved affordability, and continued 
benefit competitiveness would represent a meaningful plan and positive fiscal stewardship

FISCAL IMPACT

Adoption of the proposed resolution and the OPEB Funding Policy (Attachment B) will require 
the City to contribute an additional 2.5% of payroll above pay-go into the OPEB Trust on an 
annual basis until the liability associated with the explicit subsidy is fully funded, commencing in 
FY 2019-2020. This additional contribution would be set aside in the City’s irrevocable OPEB 
Trust through the California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT). As the OPEB Funding 
Policy expresses the City’s OPEB trust contribution as a percentage of salary, the amount 
contributed to the CERBT would fluctuate based upon staffing levels and wage growth in future 
years.

i

PUBLIC OUTREACH / INTEREST

No outreach was deemed necessary for this informational report beyond the standard City 
Council agenda noticing procedures. As part of the development of the report and 
recommended OPEB Funding Policy, City Staff and outside consultants met with all of the City’s 
bargaining units, the Budget Advisory Commission, and various other City leadership.

Item:________
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019



Sabrina B. Landreth, City Administrator
Subject: OPEB Funding Policy
Date: January 7, 2019_______________ Page 6

i
COORDINATION

This report and resolution has been prepared by the Finance Department in coordination with 
Human Resources Management Department. Staff in Finance Department worked with the 
Human Resources Management Department in developing the OPEB Funding Policy.

I
!
i

SUSTAINABLE OPPORTUNITIES

Economic: There are no economic opportunities associated with this item.

Environmental: There are no environmental opportunities associated with this item.

Social Equity. There are no social equity opportunities associated with this item.

i
ACTION REQUESTED OF THE CITY COUNCIL

Staff Recommends That The City Council Adopt A Resolution Adopting The Other Post- 
Employment Benefits Funding Policy Of The City Of Oakland.

For questions regarding this report, please contact Adam Benson, Budget Administrator, at (510) 
238-2026.

Respectfully submitted,

/
KATANO KASAINE 
Director of Finance

Reviewed by:
David Jones, Treasury Administrator

Prepared by:
Adam Benson, Budget Administrator

Attachment (2):

(1) Attachment A - Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Funding Analysis and Policy
(2) City of Oakland Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Funding Policy

Item:_____ '
Finance and Management Committee 

January 29, 2019

i



Approved as to Form and Legality
filed

““oaVKII "‘OAKLAND CITY COUNCIL
City Attorney

2813 Jm 18 m 9*-^solution No. C.M.S.
Introduced by Councilmember

RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT 
BENEFITS FUNDING POLICY OF THE CITY OF OAKLAND

WHEREAS, the City of Oakland (“City”) has three programs in place to partially pay health 
insurance premiums for certain classes of retirees from City employment meeting certain 
requirements relating to age and service pursuant to labor agreements between the City and local 
unions and in City resolutions; and

WHEREAS, beginning in the fiscal year ending June 30,2018, the City must recognize the 
Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) unfunded liabilities in its Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report due to the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 74 and 75; and

WHEREAS, the City’s current pay-as-you-go (“pay-go”) funding approach for OPEB is not 
financially sustainable over the long-term; and

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 87208 C.M.S., which was approved by the City Council on May 
29, 2018, directed the City Administrator to develop an OPEB Funding Policy for the City 
Council’s consideration; and

WHEREAS, an OPEB Funding Policy provides guidance to the City Council by establishing 
pre-funding targets that will improve the long-term viability of the retiree health benefit program; 
now, therefore be it

RESOLVED: That the City of Oakland OPEB Funding Policy, in substantially the form attached 
to the staff report accompanying this resolution, is hereby approved and adopted; and be it

FURTHER RESOLVED: That this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage.

IN COUNCIL, OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA,

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:

AYES- FORTUNATO BAS, GALLO, GIBSON MCELHANEY, KALB, REID, TAYLOR, THAO, AND PRESIDENT 
KAPLAN

NOES-

ABSENT-

ABSTENTION -
ATTEST:

LaTonda Simmons 
City Clerk and Clerk of the Council 

of the City of Oakland, California



 

 

 

 
 

 

City of Oakland, CA 
 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)  

Funding Analysis and Policy 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared on January 14, 2019 

 

PFM Group Consulting LLC 
50 California Street 
Suite 2300 
San Francisco, CA  94111 

  



   

 

2 

Table of Contents 
 

Executive Summary ......................................................................................................... 3 

Project Overview .............................................................................................................. 5 

OPEB Basics ................................................................................................................... 7 

Current City of Oakland OPEB Benefits ......................................................................... 10 

Oakland’s Unfunded OPEB Liability ............................................................................... 14 

OPEB Cost Drivers ........................................................................................................ 18 

External Perspectives on Oakland’s OPEB Funding Challenge .................................... 19 

Benchmarking ................................................................................................................ 21 

Recommended City of Oakland OPEB Policy  ............................................................... 27 

Projected Results  .......................................................................................................... 31 

 
Appendices 
 
Detailed Benchmarking Results ..................................................................................... 32 

Actuarial Projections – Recommended Policy ............................................................... 56 

 

 
  



   

 

3 

Executive Summary 
 

 The term Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) refers to retiree benefits other 
than pensions – primarily post-employment healthcare, as provided to City of 
Oakland retirees.   
 

 Funding OPEB is a challenge across the U.S. public sector, generating significant 
and fast-rising costs.  In Oakland, the City spent $27.2 million on healthcare 
payments for current retirees in Fiscal Year (FY) 2017-18.  By FY 2026-27, this cost 
is projected to reach $50.3 million – a forecasted growth rate more than three times 
that of projected inflation. 

 
 The recognized best practice for OPEB funding is to set aside resources in a trust 

during an employee’s active years of service at levels actuarially determined to be 
sufficient to fund the City share of healthcare in retirement on a pooled basis across 
all eligible retirees – just as has long been done for pensions. 

 
 Like most governments nationally, however, Oakland only began to prefund OPEB 

in recent years when the accounting standards for such benefits were changed to 
require an actuarial perspective – after previously funding only the “pay-go” costs for 
those who have already retired.   

 
 As a result of only recently beginning to prefund these costs, the City’s accumulated 

net unfunded liability for future OPEB benefits on an actuarial basis as of June 30, 
2017 was $849.5 million.  Overall, the Oakland OPEB plan is just 3.0% funded. 

 
 The implementation of new accounting standards beginning with the fiscal year 

ending June 30, 2018 will record this entire liability in the City’s Statement of Net 
Position, more than double the net OPEB obligation of $360.0 reported for the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2017 under previous accounting rules.  

 
 While the City established an OPEB trust for prefunding in FY 2010-11 and has 

committed an extra $10 million above pay-go to this trust in each of the past two 
fiscal years ($20 million in total), the City’s annual funding levels – even with these 
extra payments – are less than half of the amounts recommended by the actuaries. 

 
 This shortfall – and the absence of a clear plan to address these OPEB liabilities 

going forward – are not only of strong concern for the City’s leadership, but they 
have also been cited in 2018 by an Alameda County Civil Grand Jury and noted as a 
credit weakness in the City’s 2018 credit reports from independent rating agencies.   

 
 Unchecked OPEB cost growth threatens the City’s overall fiscal condition and its 

capacity to meet other important service needs. 
 



   

 

4 

 To address these challenges and concerns, Oakland City Council authorized this 
study and the development of an OPEB funding policy. 

 
 The goal of Oakland’s OPEB Policy is to provide a retiree healthcare program that 

balances affordability, sustainability, and competitiveness concerns. 
 

 Benchmarking conducted for this report indicates that Oakland as of 2018 now 
provides City employees with highly competitive retiree medical benefits relative to 
other Bay Area and large California cities. 

 
 Recently negotiated OPEB adjustments for police effective in 2019 will move toward 

a significantly more affordable and sustainable benefit structure, while remaining 
regionally competitive.  Similar benefit reform opportunities are also available for 
Oakland firefighters, and this report further identifies additional cost containment 
options for all employees. 

 
 If reasonable benefit reforms are combined with a sustained City commitment to pay 

down its unfunded OPEB liability at levels above pay-go costs, Oakland is well 
positioned to move forward with a positive, long-term plan for sustainable funding. 

 
 The recommended OPEB Policy developed along with this report includes a long-

term City funding commitment of 2.5% of payroll above pay-go OPEB costs toward 
achieving full funding, set forth in tandem with goals for continued labor-
management partnership to reduce the rate of growth in the current liability. 

 
 Along with additional provisions for transparency, regular reporting, and a sound 

actuarial approach, the recommended OPEB Policy provides a framework for a 
roughly tenfold improvement within a decade in the funded level for that component 
of the City’s overall OPEB liability associated with direct healthcare payments to 
retirees (in accounting terms, the “explicit subsidy”).   

 
 With sustained commitment to this recommended approach, the City’s actuaries 

project full funding of Oakland’s OPEB explicit subsidy in less than 25 years – and 
potentially sooner. 

 
 Given that Oakland’s current OPEB funding shortfall has been decades in the 

making, such steady progress toward achieving true sustainability – in conjunction 
with improved affordability and continued benefit competitiveness – would represent 
a meaningful plan and positive fiscal stewardship. 
 

 Although further monitoring and future adjustments may well be required as 
circumstances continue to change and evolve across the years ahead, it is the 
project team’s strong hope and belief that these actions will position the City of 
Oakland to meet its long-term commitments effectively.             



   

 

5 

Project Overview 
 

PFM Group Consulting LLC (PFM) was retained by the City of Oakland to provide 
consulting services to assist the City in developing a Funding Analysis and Policy 
regarding Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – the term commonly used among 
public employers for retiree benefits other than pensions, principally post-employment 
healthcare.  PFM coordinated efforts with Cheiron, the City’s OPEB plan actuary, to 
develop the analysis and fiscal estimates used in support of this engagement.   

 
The City of Oakland provides eligible retirees from City government the opportunity to 
participate in regional health insurance plans offered through the California Public 
Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS), and covers a portion of the health 
insurance premiums, varying by class of employment.  With a growing number of City 
retirees, fast-rising medical inflation, and evolving accounting standards increasing 
focus nationwide on the actuarial cost of OPEB liabilities, Oakland now faces a severe 
funding challenge – and the imperative for a more financially sustainable OPEB 
program. 

 
To address this challenge thoughtfully, the City sought assistance in developing a 
Funding Analysis and Policy in support of affordable, sustainable, and competitive 
OPEB benefits.   
 
At the same time, it is important to acknowledge that this initiative represents the next 
step – not the first step – in addressing Oakland’s OPEB liabilities.  Prior to publication 
of this report, the City had already undertaken the following actions to improve OPEB 
funding: 
 

 Establishment of an Irrevocable OPEB Trust.  While the City has generally 
limited its OPEB payments to annual pay-go contributions, the City did join the 
California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT) in FY 2010-11.  The 
CERBT is an irrevocable trust, dedicated for long-term OPEB prefunding.  In the 
years from launch in FY 2010-11 through FY 2016-17, the City of Oakland built a 
modest balance of $6 million through initial, direct contributions and interest 
earnings.   

 Supplemental OPEB Prefunding of $20 Million.  As previously noted, the City has 
recently increased its OPEB prefunding, contributing $10 million to the CERBT in 
both FY 2017-18 and FY 2018-19.  This has brought the current trust funding to 
approximately $26 million. 

 Police Benefit Restructuring.  As also previously detailed, collective bargaining 
agreements reached in November 2018 with the City’s police unions will achieve 
significant long-term OPEB savings, both by containing future cost growth for 



   

 

6 

current retires and active employees, and by establishing a more affordable new 
tier for officers hired after January 1, 2019.  

While the above, initial steps have not yet been sufficient to fully resolve the City of 
Oakland’s long-term OPEB challenges, these actions do provide an important 
foundation upon which an enduring OPEB policy can be shaped. 
 
To develop this forward-looking policy, the PFM-Cheiron team conducted the following 
major tasks: 

 
 Documented and analyzed the City’s OPEB plan, financial characteristics, and key 

cost drivers in the context of the City’s budget and OPEB plan conditions and trends 
regionally and nationally. 

 Benchmarked the City’s OPEB plan and funding against other California 
municipalities and evaluated best practices nationally. 

 Met with key stakeholders to gain insight into the OPEB plan and the City’s goals 
and challenges, including City of Oakland municipal employee unions, the Budget 
Advisory Committee, and other City leadership. 

 Conducted financial analysis to model the impact of various alternative benefit and 
subsidy approaches. 

 Developed a recommended funding policy, incorporating the input and analysis 
outlined above. 

This report and recommended funding policy are intended to be presented to City 
Council for consideration. 
 

  



   

 

7 

OPEB Basics 
 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) refers to retiree benefits other than pensions.  
While this may include retiree life insurance and other types of non-pension benefits, 
the largest OPEB category nationally is retiree healthcare coverage.  For City of 
Oakland retirees, as with many U.S. public employers, retiree healthcare coverage is 
the exclusive form of OPEB provided – at a significant and fast-rising cost.   
 
Nationally, the Center for Retirement Research at Boston College estimated1 that, as of 
2013, two thirds of total state and local government OPEB unfunded liabilities were at 
the local level.  More recently, analysis by S&P Global found that the aggregate 
unfunded OPEB liability for state governments alone had reached $678 billion by 2017.2  
Assuming that local government OPEB liabilities continue to be roughly twice as high as 
such state obligations, this suggests that total U.S. state and local OPEB unfunded 
liabilities may well now exceed $2 trillion.  In Oakland, the most recent actuarial report 
estimated the City’s total unfunded liability as of July 1, 2017 at $849.5 million. 
 
With pension obligations, most employers have been setting aside funding during 
employees’ active years of service in pension trusts for many decades, anticipating the 
future cost of these benefits as employees retire.  While many such pension systems 
are now experiencing funding shortfalls of their own – creating major budget pressures 
– most plans have nonetheless built up some significant level of prefunding.  Across the 
largest public pension systems nationally, for example, plans reported aggregate 
funding of 71.9% of what is actuarially recommended.3  For the City of Oakland, the 
Miscellaneous pension plan under CalPERS is 68.2% funded and the Safety plan is 
64.2% funded based on the market value of assets as of June 30, 2017.   
 
In contrast, many OPEB plans are almost completely unfunded.  This is because most 
state and local governments have historically paid OPEB costs only for those former 
employees who have already retired for the benefits they are currently receiving – with 
little or no prefunding.  While this “pay-as-you-go” (pay-go) was manageable for many 
public employers when healthcare costs were comparatively low and the census of 
retired employees remained steady, recent and ongoing trends in both healthcare 
premiums and the number of retired employees are driving OPEB costs to 
unprecedented levels.   

 
Recognizing this growing challenge, the Government Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) issued new standards about a decade ago requiring state and local 
governments to provide actuarial valuations of their OPEB liabilities.  Under more recent 

                                            
1 Center for Retirement Research at Boston College, “How Big a Burden are State and Local OPEB Benefits?” 
(March 2016). 
2 S&P Global Ratings, “Rising U.S. States’ OPEB Liabilities Signal Higher Costs Ahead” (November 28, 2018). 
3 National Association of Retirement System Administrators (NASRA), Public Fund Survey, Summary of Findings for 
FY 2017 (November 2018). 



   

 

8 

updates to these standards (GASB 74/75), unfunded OPEB liabilities will be fully 
reflected on governmental balance sheets under more stringent actuarial requirements, 
similar to what local governments are required to report for pensions.  While this 
accounting change does not have an immediate impact on the City’s underlying 
finances, it does further highlight the long-term funding issues that the City must 
address in the coming years. 

 
Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) 
 
OPEB actuarial valuations include an Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC), 
indicating the amount a public employer should fund in a dedicated trust each year, to 
meet the following commitments: 

 To set money aside for future benefits for current employees during their active 
years of service. 

 To amortize any unfunded liabilities for both active and future employees. 

If fully funded, an OPEB trust would be expected to pay for all promised benefits, with 
the trust sustained going forward by the ongoing ADC payments.  The term “ADC” as 
defined under current accounting standards is generally equivalent to the prior concept 
for OPEB and pensions of an Annual Required Contribution or “ARC.”   
 
For a plan that 
historically has not 
been well-funded, the 
short-term ADC cost 
would typically be 
much higher than the 
pay-go cost of 
claims/premiums for 
eligible retirees 
already receiving 
benefits.  Over the 
long-term, however, 
funding the ADC 
allows a City to 
harness investment 
returns for prefunded 
amounts to pay a portion of future OPEB benefits – generating long-term savings and 
moderating future budget pressures.  This dynamic is illustrated in the accompanying 
graphic developed by the League of California Cities.4 
 

                                            
4 League of California Cities, “Retiree Health Care: A Cost Containment How-To Guide” (September 2016). 



   

 

9 

While fully funding the ADC is not a legal requirement, the City must now report its full 
OPEB liabilities on its balance sheet. 
 
Implicit vs. Explicit Subsidies 

 
Nearly one-quarter of Oakland’s 
expected OPEB costs is categorized 
as an “implicit subsidy.”  This 
subsidy arises because medical 
premium rates for pre-Medicare 
retirees are pooled together with 
active employees under the Public 
Employees Medical & Hospital Care 
Act (PEHMCA) health plans 
administered by CalPERS.  In turn, 
this pooling results in an overall 
higher premium for active employees 
(who tend to have lower healthcare 
costs than retirees on average) –and 
a lower premium for retirees than the 
“true” cost would reflect.  This 
dynamic is illustrated in the League 
of California Cities graphic to the 
right.5 
 
This pooling of populations with substantially different healthcare costs effectively 
results in a subsidy for the premiums for retirees – a cost required to be shown as a 
liability in the City’s OPEB actuarial valuation.  The PEMHCA health plans do not offer 
the option of using separate rates for active employees and retirees, making this implicit 
subsidy unavoidable under the current PEMHCA health care program structure.     
 
In contrast, the term “explicit subsidy” refers to the direct payments made by the City to 
retirees.  This is the more visible, and typically larger, component of OPEB costs.  For 
Oakland, the explicit subsidy represents more than three-quarters of current costs. 
 

  

                                            
5 League of California Cities, “Retiree Health Care: A Cost Containment How-To Guide” (September 2016). 



   

 

10 

Current City of Oakland OPEB Benefits 
 
All City of Oakland retirees and their dependents can potentially receive lifetime medical 
coverage under PEMHCA health plans for retirees and their dependents.  To be eligible, 
an Oakland employee must generally retire from the City with at least five years of 
service.6  Once a retiree turns 65, Oakland OPEB plan participants are required to 
enroll in a Medicare supplement plan.  Spouses and dependent children are covered for 
the lifetime of the longer-lived employee or the surviving spouse.  Additionally, if an 
active employee who would have been eligible for coverage dies before retiring, the 
spouse and dependent children are covered for the lifetime of the spouse.7   
 
In addition to offering continued coverage in the City’s medical plans, Oakland provides 
financial support to retirees for OPEB in multiple ways.  First, consistent with the 
structure of the PEMHCA plans, the City provides retirees with the implicit subsidy of 
lower premium costs due to pooling of their coverage with less expensive active 
employees.  Second, Oakland covers a portion of the cost for these reduced health 
insurance premiums through additional City contributions.  As further detailed below, 
these City contributions vary in amount and structure by employee group, and are 
subject to collective bargaining for represented employees. 

 

Miscellaneous Employees  
 
For non-Safety employees, the City contributes the “PEMHCA minimum” amount set by 
CalPERS toward the cost of retiree medical benefits, which will be $136 per month in 
2019 and increases each year by an inflation index.  In addition, for retirees with 10 or 
more years of City service, Oakland provides an additional fixed subsidy reimbursement 
of up to $425.42 per month.  The combined PEMHCA minimum payment and 
supplemental reimbursement cannot exceed the CalPERS medical premium.  In total, 
this results in a City contribution for 2019 of up to $561.42 per month or $6,737.04 
annually.8  
 
The following tables show the City and retiree contributions for the Kaiser HMO plans 
(Pre-Medicare and Medicare) as of 2019.  When a retiree becomes eligible for 
Medicare, the cost for all available plans and coverage levels is typically far lower due to 
Medicare coordination. 

 

                                            
6 The service requirement is waived for police or fire employees who become disabled in the line of duty. 
7 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018; CalPERS, Health Benefits Circular Letter, May 2018.  
8 City of Oakland, CalPERS 2019 Monthly Premiums – Bay Area Region. 



   

 

11 

Table 1:  Pre-Medicare Miscellaneous Employees 
 

Pre-Medicare 

Eligibility 

Age <65 

Coverage Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser Bay Area 

Retiree $206.83 $561.42 

Retiree + Spouse $975.08 $561.42 

Family $1,436.03 $561.42 

 
Table 2:  Medicare Miscellaneous Employees 

 

Medicare 

Eligibility  

Age >65 

Coverage 

Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser 

Senior 

Advantage 

Bay Area 

Retiree $0.00 $323.74 

Retiree + Spouse $86.06 $561.42 

Family9 $547.01 $561.42 

 

Police 
   
For members of the Oakland Police Officers Association (OPOA) and Oakland Police 
Management Association (OPMA), the City will contribute a fixed amount toward retiree 
medical premiums based on the level of coverage elected, up to $1,683.80 per month 
($20,205.60 annually) in 201910 – subject to growth in future years as premiums 
increase.  This future growth is not capped.  Again, the City’s contribution cannot 
exceed the CalPERS medical premium, and will be adjusted downward if sufficient to 
cover 100% of a lower cost plan, such as are available for Medicare eligible retirees.  
 
The following tables show the contributions for the Kaiser HMO plan, as of 2019: 
 

Table 3:  Pre-Medicare Police Officers 
 

Pre-Medicare 

Eligibility 

Age <65 

Coverage 

Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser 

Bay 

Area 

Retiree $0.00 $768.25 

Retiree + Spouse $0.00 $1,536.50 

Family $313.65 $1,683.80 

                                            
9 Medicare family coverage assumes retiree and spouse are Medicare eligible plus one dependent who is not. 
10 City of Oakland, CalPERS 2019 Monthly Premiums – Bay Area Region.  



   

 

12 

Table 4:  Medicare Police Officers 
 

Medicare 

Eligibility  

Age >65 

Coverage Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser Senior 

Advantage Bay 

Area 

Retiree $0.00 $323.74 

Retiree + Spouse $0.00 $647.48 

Family11 $0.00 $1,108.43 

 
In addition, two closed groups of officers who retired under prior OPEB programs 
officers also receive additional benefits (known as the Retention I and II programs). 
  
Looking forward, under new collective bargaining agreements reached with OPOA and 
OPMA in November 2018, a more sustainable retiree medical program has been 
negotiated to moderate OPEB costs for current and future police retirees.   
 
For active employees and current retirees, the City contribution toward retiree health 
benefits will now be capped at the Bay Area Kaiser rate for two-party (retiree plus 
spouse) coverage in 2020, rather than continuing to grow on an uncapped basis.  Under 
the PEMHCA program, the Kaiser rate is also typically more affordable than other 
available options, and the two-party rate also limits costs while maintaining strong 
coverage for the retiree and spouse.  
 
For new employees hired after January 1, 2019, the City will provide the same benefit 
now provided for Miscellaneous employees: City contributions capped at the PEHMCA 
minimum, plus an additional $425.40 per month if the employee retires from the City 
with ten or more years of service.   
 

Fire   
 
For members of the International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF) Local 55 in 2019, 
the City will contribute up to $1,764.14 per month ($21,169.68 annually) toward the cost 
of retiree medical benefits prior to Medicare eligibility, depending on the level of 
coverage elected.12  As with police retirees prior to the new agreement, this contribution 
is linked to the CalPERS premium for that year, and is subject to potential cost growth 
annually as premiums increase, with no cap.   
 
When a retiree becomes eligible for Medicare, the City subsidy covers 100% of the cost 
for all available plans and coverage levels.  As with the other employee groups, the 
City’s contribution cannot exceed the cost of the CalPERS medical premium.  

                                            
11 Medicare family coverage assumes retiree and spouse are Medicare eligible plus one dependent who is not. 
12 City of Oakland, CalPERS 2019 Monthly Premiums – Bay Area Region. 



   

 

13 

The tables below show the City and retiree contributions for the Kaiser HMO plan, as of 
2019: 
 

Table 5:  Pre-Medicare Firefighters 
 

Pre-Medicare 

Eligibility 

Age <65 

Coverage 

Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser Bay 

Area 

Retiree $0.00 $768.25 

Retiree + Spouse $0.00 $1,536.50 

Family $233.31 $1,764.14 

 
Table 6: Medicare Firefighters 

 

Medicare 

Eligibility  

Age >65 

Coverage 

Level 

Retiree 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

City 

Contribution 

(Monthly) 

Kaiser Senior 

Advantage Bay 

Area 

Retiree $0.00 $323.74 

Retiree + Spouse $0.00 $647.48 

Family13 $0.00 $1,108.43 

 
On an annual basis, firefighters also have 100% of unused vacation leave from the 
previous year deposited into the City’s Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) program.  
 
The City has proposed restructured retiree health care coverage in the current round of 
labor negotiations with IAFF, Local 55.  The parties are currently engaged in binding 
arbitration process pursuant to the City Charter.  As of the completion of this report, that 
process has not yet been resolved. 

  

                                            
13 Medicare family coverage assumes retiree and spouse are Medicare eligible plus one dependent who is not. 



   

 

14 

Oakland’s Unfunded OPEB Liability 
 
As of the City of Oakland’s most recent actuarial valuation, the City had a total unfunded 
OPEB liability of $849.5 million on July 1, 2017 – with each major employee group 
representing more than one quarter of the total liability.14   

 
Figure 1: Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL) as of July 1, 2017  

by Major Employee Group ($ in Millions) 

 
In Figure 2 that follows, the shares of the total liability are further contextualized by a 
breakdown of the composition of the City’s OPEB plan membership by employee group. 
By number of covered members, the Miscellaneous group represents the largest cohort 
of municipal employees (54%), outpacing its proportionately smaller share of the total 
OPEB liability (32%).   
 
This ratio is a function of both the varying level of benefits provided to each group and 
the earlier retirement eligibility for Safety employees.  When employees retire at an 
earlier age, they will receive benefits for more years than their counterparts retiring at 
later ages, assuming similar mortality experience – and, typically, more years at the 
higher rates associated with Pre-Medicare coverage.  
. 

                                            
14 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018.  

$357.6, 
42%

$217.4, 
26%

$274.5, 
32%

Police

Fire

Miscellaneous



   

 

15 

Figure 2: Membership Data as of July 1, 2017  
Active Employees, Retirees, and Beneficiaries by Major Group 

 

For FY 2018-19, Cheiron, the City’s OPEB actuary, calculated an ADC of $79.4 million 
in order to actuarially fund the future benefits for current active employees and to pay 
down a portion of the unfunded liabilities (inclusive of the requirements to meet current 
“pay-go” costs for those already retired).  This is the amount that the City should be 
funding for the year on an actuarial basis. 
 
In contrast, pay-go costs just for benefits for those already retired were estimated to 
total $29.6 million, without setting aside funds for current active employees or otherwise 
paying down the unfunded liability.  In FY 2018-19, the City is fully covering these pay-
go OPEB costs and contributing an additional $10 million15 into a trust for the unfunded 
liability.   
 
As shown in Figure 3, even with this additional $10 million, City funding remains $39.8 
million below the ADC – less than half of the actuarially determined level.16  

                                            
15 The City also contributed a supplemental $10 million above pay-go in FY 2017-18. 
16 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018; ADC estimates provided by Cheiron based on 7/1/17 valuation, assuming contributions remain at level of 
current benefit payments plus $10,000,000 in FY 2017-18 and FY 2018-19 only, with 30-Year closed UAAL 
amortization.  

1,916, 
27%

1,377, 
19%

3,939, 
54%

Police

Fire

Miscellaneous



   

 

16 

Figure 3: Actual Payments vs. ADC, FY 2018-19 

The current shortfall in City contributions relative to the ADC is of strong concern, but it 
is also important to note that OPEB funding is not just a one-year problem.  Rather, this 
challenge represents an ongoing and growing source of budget pressure that cannot be 
solved overnight.   
 
Even without funding the City’s full ADC, direct pay-go retiree health expenses alone 
before corrective action would be projected to rise sharply to over $50 million per year 
by FY 2026-27 – a difficult-to-sustain growth rate of 5.3% per year.  Over the same 
period, the ADC would be projected to grow to $120.7 million – resulting in a $70.4 
million shortfall between pay-go and the ADC in FY 2026-27 alone, as shown in Figure 
4 below.17  

 
Figure 4: Pay-Go v. ADC Projections,  

FY 2017-18 to FY 2026-27  

                                            
17 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018; ADC estimates provided by Cheiron based on 7/1/17 valuation, assuming contributions remain at the level of 
current benefit payments plus $10,000,000 in FY 2017-18 and FY 2018-19 only; with a 30-Year closed UAAL 
amortization.  Analysis developed prior to new OPOA agreement, and police contract changes are not reflected. 

$29.6
$39.6

$79.4

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

Pay-go Pay-go + Trust ADC

M
ill

io
n

ADC

Trust

Pay-go

$27.2 $29.6 $31.4 $33.6 $35.4 $38.4 $41.4 $44.0 $47.0 $50.3

$75.9 $79.4 $83.5 $87.9 $92.6 $97.5 $102.7
$108.3

$114.3
$120.7

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026 FY2027

M
ill

io
n

Pay-go
ADC



   

 

17 

With compounding, this growth in OPEB pay-go costs from $27.2 million to $50.3 million 
would represent an 84.6% increase in costs – more than three times the projected rate 
of growth in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) nationally.18  

 
Figure 5: Pay-Go Projections v. CPI  

FY 2017-18 to FY 2026-27 

: OPEB Pay-Go Costs are Inflexible   
In any municipal cost center, across any period of time, growth in expenditures well 
above the rate of CPI change would be difficult for a public employer to sustain.  
Further, rising CalPERS pension costs due largely to the phase-in of new actuarial 
assumptions, are also creating significant budget pressure for Oakland.  
 
At the same time, it is also important to note that recent City fiscal capacity has been 
buoyed by a historically lengthy expansion phase of the business cycle.  As of year-end 
2018, at 113 months and counting, the economy’s expansion phase was in its 10th year 
following the bottoming out of the Great Recession in June 2009.  In contrast, in the 
prior eleven business cycles since 1945, the average expansion phase lasted only 58.4 
months, and the longest (March 1991 to March 2001) had been 120 months. 
 
In the event of the next recession, financial capacity is likely to weaken as Oakland, like 
many California cities, relies on economically sensitive revenue sources.  For example, 
during the last recession (from FY 2006-07 to FY 2008-09), Oakland’s Real Estate 
Transfer Tax revenues – the City’s second largest General Fund revenue source – 
declined by $27.2 million, or 5.1% of all General Fund revenues.19  In this context, it is 
particularly important to address these benefit funding challenges timely to avoid even 
greater difficulties in fiscal years to come. 

                                            
18 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018; Survey of Professional Forecasters, Q3 2018.  
19 City of Oakland, 2007 and 2009 Comprehensive Audited Financial Statements.  

84.6%

22.7%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026 FY2027

Pay-go

CPI - Survey of
Professional Forecasters



   

 

18 

OPEB Cost Drivers 
 

Both recent and projected growth in OPEB costs are driven primarily by two major 
factors – workforce demographics and medical inflation: 

 
 With baby boomers reaching retirement age, improving mortality, and other 

factors, the total number of Oakland OPEB beneficiaries grew by 4.2% from FY 
2012-13 to FY 2017-18.20  

 
Figure 6: Number of Oakland OPEB Beneficiaries 

 
 Overlapping this period, across the years from 2001 through 2019, PEMHCA 

Kaiser medical premiums also increased at compound annual growth rates well 
above general inflation.  Pre-Medicare plans grew 7.7% per year, while 
Medicare plans grew at 5.3% annually.  Looking forward, the most recent 
Oakland OPEB actuarial valuation assumes healthcare inflation factors of 7.0% 
and 5.0% for Pre-Medicare and Medicare eligible retirees, respectively, 
beginning in 2017.  
 

Oakland’s OPEB valuation also assumes that medical inflation will gradually moderate 
over the next 20 years to an ultimate rate of 3.5% by 2037.  If medical inflation instead 
were to grow just 1.0% faster than assumed over this period, the unfunded liability as of 
July 1, 2017 would be over $130 million higher than now projected.  

 
  

                                            
20 City of Oakland Postretirement Health Insurance Plan, Actuarial Valuation Report as of July 1, 2017, issued June 
2018 

3,562
3,623

3,712

3,250

3,350

3,450

3,550

3,650

3,750

7/1/2012 7/1/2015 7/1/2017



   

 

19 

External Perspectives on Oakland’s OPEB Funding Challenge 
 
Throughout this review, City of Oakland officials and other stakeholders have 
consistently expressed strong concern regarding the long-term sustainability of the 
City’s OPEB program.  Paralleling these internal views, key external analysts – from 
citizens participating in the 2017-2018 Alameda County Civil Grand Jury, to the major 
national credit rating agencies – have also provided additional perspectives on this 
OPEB funding challenge. 
 

Alameda County FY 2017-18 Civil Grand Jury  

In June 2018, the Final Report of the FY 2017-18 Alameda County Grand Jury included a 
detailed analysis of Oakland’s OPEB program.  Key concerns identified by this citizen 
Grand Jury included: 

 Underfunding of the City’s actuarial contribution by approximately $40 million 
annually. 

 An overall unfunded liability well in excess of $800 million. 

 The impact of rapidly increasing retiree health costs on City budget capacity and 
available resources for essential city services. 

 Insufficient revenue streams to fund the City’s OPEB liability without corrective 
action. 

 The need for a comprehensive OPEB plan balancing funding commitments and 
benefit change. 

  
 

“The city of Oakland currently has no meaningful plan to address its…unfunded 
OPEB liability, jeopardizing the city’s long-term financial viability... 
 
The city of Oakland must develop and implement a long-term comprehensive plan to 
address its… unfunded OPEB liability. 
 
Any long-term OPEB plan must include discussion of additional city funding and 
substantial structural change in benefits that are responsible for these growing 
liabilities.” 
 

2017-2018 Alameda County Grand Jury Final Report (June 1, 2018) 



   

 

20 

Credit Rating Agencies 
 
Oakland’s credit ratings are determined by independent rating agencies, such as S&P 
Global Ratings and Moody’s Investors Service, which evaluate the City’s long-term 
fiscal capacity and creditworthiness based on a set of established criteria.  Such credit 
ratings not only provide a useful independent perspective on the City’s finances, but are 
also important for determining the City’s continued access to the capital markets for the 
cost the City must pay for any long-term borrowing. 
 
A key issue for rating agencies generally is the ability of a local government to maintain 
overall fiscal health and meet its long-term financial commitments – and there has been 
growing focus on pension and OPEB funding pressures nationwide.  Consistent with this 
perspective, ratings reports issued specific to Oakland in 2018 highlighted the challenges of 
funding retirement costs, and the need for a plan moving forward. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

“Oakland has a large unfunded OPEB liability of $860.0 million, an exceptionally 
high 238.3% of covered payroll, as of the July 1, 2015 actuarial valuation date.” 
 
“Factors that could lead to a downgrade:  Inability to manage retirement costs.” 

Moody’s Investors Service, “City of Oakland, CA, Update to Credit Analysis” 
(April 19, 2018) 

 
 
”In our opinion, a credit weakness is Oakland's large pension and OPEB 
obligation, without a plan in place that we think will sufficiently address the 
obligation.” 

S&P Global Ratings, “Summary: Oakland, California; Appropriations; General 
Obligation” (April 20, 2018) 



   

 

21 

Benchmarking 
 
In the general labor market nationally, including both public and private employers, only 
18% of large firms (200 or more workers) offered any form of retiree health benefits in 
2018 – down from 66% three decades earlier.21  Among larger state and local 
governments, however, such coverage remains more common, with 68% nationally 
reporting some OPEB program.22  At the same time, even where still provided, retiree 
healthcare programs vary considerably in cost and design. 
 
To gain insight into such considerations, the project team benchmarked the City’s 
benefit structure relative to eleven (11) other California public employers, representing a 
mix of Bay Area communities and larger cities statewide.  In collective bargaining, 
different City of Oakland municipal unions use overlapping, but somewhat distinct, 
universes of comparison employers to inform negotiations.  For the purposes of this 
OPEB evaluation – to provide perspective on mainstream regional approaches and to 
identify any best practices and innovative approaches – a single comparison grouping 
was used for benchmarking across all Oakland employee groups. 
 
Of the twelve cities compared in this report, six (including Oakland) are PEMHCA 
participants, as identified by checkmarks in Table 7 below.  

 
Table 7: PEMHCA Participants 

 
PEMHCA Participants 

Oakland 
Berkeley 

Concord 
Fremont 
Fresno   
Hayward 
Long Beach   
Richmond 
Sacramento   
San Francisco   
San Jose   
Vallejo 

 
For communities participating in PEMHCA, there is limited flexibility regarding plan 
design options and other elements of program structure, however, there also significant 

                                            
21 Kaiser Family Foundation, Employer Health Benefits, 2018 Annual Survey. 
22 Ibid. 



   

 

22 

advantages with regard to the program support and strong purchasing power available 
under these large CalPERS programs.   
 
The following sections of this report highlight key cost factors for Oakland relative to 
these benchmark communities for each of the City’s major employee groups 
(Miscellaneous, Police, and Fire).  These summary-level findings show the employer 
contributions for Pre-Medicare and Medicare eligible retirees in the highest enrolled 
plans across the survey group for new hires.  In each of these comparison communities, 
there is typically also a legacy, classic plan cohort “grandfathered” under a benefit tiers 
or tiers no longer available to newer hires.  These and other, more detailed 
benchmarking results may be found in Appendix A. 
 
Miscellaneous 
 
For Miscellaneous employees across the survey group, Oakland provides a highly 
competitive benefit to newly hired employees.  For example, the City contributes the 
second largest subsidy within the group for Pre-Medicare retiree coverage at the family 
level, and Oakland’s contribution for Medicare Eligible family plan coverage is third 
highest out of twelve (12) overall.  Also of note, San Francisco’s more costly benefit is 
linked to contributions made by active employees not required in Oakland.    
 
These rankings are shown in the charts below for the Pre-Medicare retirees, with the 
yellow bars representing other PEMHCA plans and the gray bars indicating non-
PEMHCA plans. 

 
Figure 7: Employer Contributions for Miscellaneous - New Hires 

Pre-Medicare Eligible Retirees, Family Coverage 

  
 

$0 $0 $0 $0
$136 $136

$275 $300 $333

$561 $567

$1,529

$0

$200

$400

$600

$800

$1,000

$1,200

$1,400

$1,600

$1,800



   

 

23 

Police 
 
Similarly, Oakland provides one of the largest OPEB subsidies for police employees.  
While the 2018 charts as shown below do not yet reflect the recently negotiated 
changes for Oakland’s future police hires, this new structure will still rank above the 
benchmark median and among the most generous for PEMHCA plans. 
 

Figure 8: Employer Contributions for Police - New Hires 
Pre-Medicare Eligible Retirees, Family Coverage 

 
Fire 
 
The City of Oakland OPEB subsidy is also among the most competitive for area 
firefighters.     

 
Figure 9: Employer Contributions for Fire - New Hires 

Pre-Medicare Eligible Retirees, Family Coverage 
 

  

$0 $0 $0 $136 $136
$500 $508

$827

$1,529 $1,684

$2,645

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

$3,000

$0 $0 $0
$300

$500 $508
$774

$1,529 $1,537
$1,764

$1,997

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500



   

 

24 

Cost-Containment Approaches 
 
As reflected in the differences in employer cost summarized above, and as further 
outlined in more detailed plan summaries provided in Appendix A, California 
governments use a broad range of approaches for the delivery of retiree healthcare 
benefits.  In 2018, the City of Oakland has already achieved significant long-term OPEB 
savings through new police collective bargaining agreements capping City contributions 
for current retirees and active employees and creating a new, more affordable benefit 
tier for future hires. 
 
As options to complement and/or build on this approach going forward, several 
additional concepts and case studies are highlighted below.   

 
Conversion of Leave to OPEB Coverage 
 
The City of Long Beach supports retiree healthcare coverage by converting unused sick 
leave into funding for retiree health benefits.  Rather than paying out unused sick leave 
at separation or providing for the conversion of sick leave to CalPERS pension service 
credit, Long Beach converts accumulated, unused sick leave into a Health 
Reimbursement Account (HRA) at the point of retirement.  The employee is then able to 
use these dollars to help pay for healthcare premiums in retirement.  The specific 
amount of funding provided to each retiree is based on longevity, use of sick leave, and 
the rate of pay upon retirement.   
 
The City of Oakland currently provides a form of this benefit to fire personnel, who 
convert unused vacation into an HRA at the end of each year. 
 
While this approach is similar to the defined contribution structures outlined below, the 
benefit provided can be significant – and can meaningfully help to bridge any funding 
gap for employees between retirement and Medicare eligibility.  In addition, this 
structure can recognize and potentially create an incentive for lower sick leave usage 
during years of active employment – in turn, reducing overtime and staffing pressures 
for certain types of positions, and enhancing the availability pf personnel for service 
delivery more generally.  

 
Benefit Levels Linked to Career Service 
 
Retiree benefits are generally intended to recognize career service, and employees who 
spend less than their full career with the City might reasonably be expected to receive 
only a pro-rated portion of their retiree coverage from the City – providing for the 
balance of their coverage during their years of service elsewhere.   
 
Under Oakland’s current OPEB structure, however, once an employee has ten years of 
service at retirement from the City – even if that same employee worked decades longer 



   

 

25 

for another employer – that worker receives the full level of subsidy provided to an 
employee who spent their entire career with the City. 
  
Both nationally and in several of the California cities benchmarked for this report,   an 
alternative approach can be to tie the scale of the total OPEB benefit to length of City 
service.  For example, the City of Fremont requires 15 years of service for police and 
fire retirees to be eligible for medical coverage, and then provides a subsidy of $6.50 
per month of service to police retirees with less than 20 years of service and $10 per 
month to fire retirees with less than 20 years of service.  With 20-24 years of service, 
Fremont provides Kaiser Health single coverage, and, for those with 25 or more years 
of service, Fremont funds the Kaiser Health two-party plan. 

 
As an example of how this might be applied in Oakland, instead of the current $425.40 
per month supplemental payment for all Miscellaneous employees and post-2019 Police 
hires with ten or more years of City service, Oakland could explore negotiation of a 
graduated benefit based on years of service.  For example, the benefit could begin at 
$50 per month with ten years of service, and increase by $25 per year of service, 
reaching $425 after a 25-year career.  This would preserve an equivalent benefit to the 
status quo for employees who have spent a significant portion of their career with the 
City, encourage longer tenure and retention, and focus limited City financial resources 
on those retirees who have had less opportunity to prepare for retirement with another 
employer. 

 
OPEB Defined Contribution Models 
 
Another OPEB sustainability strategy adopted by some local governments has been a 
move from guaranteeing a certain level of benefits toward setting aside a defined 
contribution toward future medical coverage during an employee’s active years of 
service within a tax-advantaged savings vehicle such as an HRA or Health Savings 
Account (HSA).   
 
When a City contributes to a defined contribution plan, the benefit becomes a current 
cost (rather than being deferred until retirement), but such a structure can also eliminate 
the risk of a future unfunded liability emerging – or, at least, reduce such risk if used as 
a supplement within a hybrid framework to a more modest guaranteed benefit such as 
the PEMHCA minimum.     
 
For employees, while a defined contribution structure shifts much of the risk of future 
medical inflation to the worker, the resulting health savings accounts can potentially 
have significant benefits (with specifics varying depending on the type of savings 
vehicle adopted): 

 
 Portability – Employee contributions, and potentially some or all of employer 

contributions, can remain with the employee upon separation. 



   

 

26 

 Flexibility – In some cases, retirees may retire from City employment and begin a 
subsequent second career.  If that new employer offers health benefits, Oakland 
retirees today may be faced with an “either/or” choice between such new coverage 
or maintaining their retiree plan.  With a defined contribution account, however, their 
accumulated savings might instead be used to offset any cost-sharing with their new 
employer’s plan – resulting in lower costs overall than available under either plan 
separately.   

 Tax advantages – Some forms of health savings accounts are tax-exempt when 
contributed, no tax accrues on interest earnings, and the member is not taxed when 
withdrawing the benefits post-retirement  

Examples of cities using defined contribution OPEB approaches include: San Jose, 
where employees hired after 2013 contribute to a Voluntary Employee Benefit 
Association (VEBA) at a rate of 2% for Miscellaneous employees and 4% for Safety (the 
City makes no separate contribution); and, Sacramento, where police employees hired 
before September 3, 2013 pay 1% of base pay into a Retiree Health Savings Account 
(RHSA), and employees hired after September 3, 2013 contribute 3% of salary.  In 
another example outside of the core survey group, City of Roseville employees hired 
after January 1, 2015 contribute to an HRA-starting at 1% of salary and growing to 5%.  
After five years, Roseville contributes a further $150 per month to the employee’s HRA, 
and employees are provided the PEHMCA minimum in retirement. 
 
Employee Contributions Toward OPEB Coverage While Active 
 
As part of the above Defined Contribution OPEB models, it is common for employees to 
contribute toward their future retiree healthcare coverage costs during their active years 
of service.  This approach is similar to other retirement benefits, such as most traditional 
pension plans (toward which active employees typically contribute a percentage of their 
pensionable salary) and Social Security (toward which both the employer and 
employees contribute 6.2% of salary up to an annually adjusted maximum). 
 
Currently, however, City of Oakland employees do not contribute toward the cost of 
their future retiree healthcare coverage during their active years of service.  As outlined 
above, this is a common component of Defined Contribution healthcare savings models, 
such as adopted by Sacramento and San Jose.  In addition, under San Francisco’s 
more traditional OPEB subsidy program, employees hired since January 2009 now 
contribute 2% of pay during their active years of service, and active City of Richmond 
employees within a PEMHCA program contribute $225 per month in 2018 toward future 
retiree health benefits, rising to $300 monthly by 2021. 

 
  



   

 

27 

Recommended City of Oakland OPEB Policy 
 
Based on the considerations outlined throughout this report, the project team has 
developed a recommended City of Oakland OPEB Policy that addresses the key goals 
we have heard voiced by City stakeholders, as well as key factors identified through our 
research and analysis.  This recommended Policy will be transmitted to City Council 
separately, and is intended to set forth the City’s overall OPEB funding and benefit 
goals, the benchmarks that will be used to measure progress, and the methods and 
assumptions that will be used to develop and maintain these benchmarks – taking into 
account the following: 
 
Program Objectives 
  
Based on stakeholder input, the primary objectives identified for the City’s overall OPEB 
program goals are to provide benefits that are: 
 

 Affordable in the near-term, without crowding out the City’s capacity to deliver 
quality services to the public or to provide reasonable salary increases to active 
employees; 

 
 Sustainable over the long-term, ensuring that benefits will be secure and reliable 

for career employees throughout retirement, with substantial intergenerational 
equity for taxpayers in regard to the funding of benefit costs; and,  

 
 Competitive, to support effective recruitment and retention of a strong municipal 

workforce.    
 
The specific elements of this funding policy are intended to provide a balanced 
approach for addressing these goals within the parameters of the City’s resources. 
 
Funding Goals 
 
The Policy’s recommend funding approach focuses on building a fully funded trust over 
time with regard to the City’s explicit subsidy benefits.  For any implicit subsidy, it is the 
recommended approach that the City continue to ensure that combined employer and 
employee/retiree contributions are made in full for annual premiums, such that this 
funding requirement will consistently be met on a yearly basis. 
 
For the explicit subsidy, the Policy recommends continued City participation in an 
irrevocable Section 115 trust, seeking to set aside sufficient assets during a member’s 
period of active employment to fully finance the benefits the member receives 
throughout retirement.  Toward this objective, the Policy establishes the following OPEB 
Trust funding and related goals: 
 



   

 

28 

 Maintain a stable or increasing ratio of trust assets to accrued liabilities, with the 
goal of reaching a 100% funded ratio (full funding) for all explicit subsidy benefits.  
For this purpose, the funded ratio is defined as the actuarial value of trust assets 
divided by the trust’s actuarial accrued liability for explicit subsidy benefits. 

 
 Develop a pattern of stable and regular contribution rates when expressed as a 

percentage of member payroll as measured by valuations prepared in 
accordance with the principles of practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards 
Board, ultimately reaching a minimum employer contribution level at least equal 
to the ADC associated with explicit subsidy benefits.  

 
 Manage the cost of benefits through labor-management partnership and 

collective bargaining to reach and maintain an affordable and sustainable level of 
coverage. 

 
Benefit Program 
 
The recommended Policy affirms that specific benefit structures will be subject to 
collective bargaining for represented employees, and that the City respects the 
negotiation process and values its labor-management partnerships. 

 
Within this context, the Policy calls for regular reviews of the City’s retiree healthcare 
benefits relative to offerings among other Bay Area governments and large California 
cities.  As retiree healthcare benefits are periodically reviewed and renegotiated, the 
Policy also sets forth the following principles as guidelines for pursuit of any 
adjustments: 

 
 Until the City’s OPEB Trust is fully funded, the affordability and sustainability of the 

City’s retiree medical benefits offerings would be evaluated on the basis of whether 
the City’s ADC for explicit subsidy benefits can be fully funded with a combination of 
full pay-go funding plus a supplemental employer contribution of no higher than 
2.5% of payroll.  
 

 Periodic adjustments to benefits will be pursued as required to ensure full funding 
and plan sustainability.  If the ADC for explicit subsidy benefits exceeds pay-go costs 
plus a supplemental City payment of 2.5% of payroll, then the City would seek to 
negotiate approaches to modify benefits to close this sustainability gap.  Among the 
potential approaches for closing this gap, the City may pursue retiree benefit 
modifications and/or contributions toward future OPEB coverage from active 
employees.     
 

 The City would also seek to negotiate reopeners for retiree health care benefits in 
any year during which fiscal difficulties due to a recession or similar factors leads to 



   

 

29 

a decline in City revenues and/or to revenue growth at less than half the rate of CPI 
escalation.  

 
 To ensure informed benefit design, the Policy also calls for any proposed OPEB 

changes to be accompanied by an actuarial valuation projecting the impact on the 
ADC, funded ratio, and overall OPEB actuarial liability.  
 

The Policy also provides for the City to partner with employee representatives to explore 
and potentially advocate for appropriate policy changes by CalPERS, to the extent the 
City continues to provide retiree healthcare benefits through the CalPERS system.  
Such policy changes may include, but are not limited to the development of plan design 
changes that do not incur penalty costs under the Affordable Care Act, and the 
separation of rates for active and retiree healthcare plans to eliminate the implicit 
subsidy. 
 
Funding Policy for Sustainable Benefits 
 
At a minimum, the Policy reaffirms that the City will fully fund its “pay-go” commitments 
to eligible retirees and beneficiaries for the benefits they receive each year, inclusive of 
any implicit subsidy resulting from the blending of active and retiree healthcare rates.  
 
In addition, the Policy calls for the City to continue to make contributions to its OPEB 
Trust.  Once full funding has been achieved on an actuarially sound basis, and as full 
funding is sustained thereafter, all explicit subsidy payments on behalf of retirees and 
beneficiaries are to be made from the Trust, with the City also contributing the full ADC 
associated with explicit subsidy payments each year to ensure the continued health and 
sustainability of the Trust.   
 
Until the Trust is 100% funded for explicit subsidy benefits, however, the Policy calls for 
City to make contributions in excess of the annual pay-go cost for current retirees and 
beneficiaries toward achieving full funding, as outlined below:   
 

 Beginning in FY 2019-20, the City would contribute an additional 2.5% of payroll 
above pay-go into the OPEB Trust on an annual basis until the liability associated 
with the explicit subsidy is fully funded.  

 
 If the sum of annual pay-go costs plus the supplemental 2.5% of payroll contribution 

is less than the ADC for explicit subsidy payments in that same year, then the City 
would seek to negotiate benefit and/or employee contributions sufficient to close this 
sustainability gap. 

 
 In addition to the above annual contributions, the City would continue to make 

further one-time contributions to the OPEB Trust consistent with the Consolidated 



   

 

30 

Fiscal Policy, when Excess Real Estate Transfer Tax (RETT) thresholds are 
met.  This approach will help to build OPEB funding more rapidly, thereby improving 
plan stability and reducing future contribution requirements. 
 

 In the event of a severe economic downturn, the City would seek to continue the 
above payment structure in full.  If certain revenue decline thresholds as defined in 
the recommended Policy are met, however, and if authorized via Council Resolution, 
the City could temporarily reduce or defer its supplemental payments above pay-go 
until the City’s revenues have recovered.   
 

In no event would the City draw down from its OPEB Trust to meet pay-go costs if the 
ADC is not made in full for that same fiscal year.   
 
Actuarial Approach 
 
To promote a sound actuarial approach for evaluating OPEB plan funding, the Policy 
includes the requirement that an actuarial valuation be completed at east biennially, 
along with a regular actuarial experience at least every five years – with the actuary to 
recommend actuarial assumptions consistent with Actuarial Standards of Practice 
(ASOP) and Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) guidance. 
 
The Policy also provides for use of the entry age normal actuarial cost method, to align 
with GASB standards.  Any unfunded liability is to be amortized over a closed 30-year 
period, ensuring steadier progress toward full funding than would take place under an 
open amortization approach. 
 
Transparency and Reporting 
 
The recommend Policy also provides for funding of the City’s OPEB program to be 
transparent to all stakeholders, including City employees, retirees, employee 
organizations, elected officials, and Oakland residents and taxpayers.  This includes a 
requirement for regular reporting on OPEB funding progress to City Council in 
conjunction with completion of each actuarial valuation, website publication of this report 
and that information regarding the City’s OPEB plan, contributions to the OPEB Trust, 
and the funded status of the plan contained in the City’s Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR), and the incorporation of clear and specific appropriations for 
contributions to the OPEB Trust and pay-go costs in the City’s annual operating budget.  
 
Review of the Funding Policy 
 
Finally, recognizing that sustainable OPEB funding requires a long-term commitment, 
the recommended Policy also includes a provision for regular review and updates, as 
warranted, to ensure that the City’s goals are being met on an ongoing basis. 



   

 

31 

Projected Results 
 
If adopted by City Council, the recommended City of Oakland OPEB Policy provides the 
City with a balanced plan, as called for by the rating agencies and Alameda County 
Grand Jury, to place the OPEB program on a sustainable path toward stable funding.   
 
Based on projections by Cheiron, using assumptions consistent with the City’s current 
actuarial valuations and the proposed new Policy, this approach is projected to achieve 
the following progress.  As further detailed in Appendix B: 
 

 Assuming resolution to the pending firefighter negotiations/arbitration consistent 
with the recent police settlements: 
 

o The Policy would be projected to build the City’s overall OPEB funded 
ratio steadily from 3.0% in FY 2018-19 to approximately 25.0% within a 
decade, and to over 50.0% in less than 20 years. 
 

o The Policy would increase the City’s funded ratio for the explicit subsidy 
component of the OPEB liability from 4.0% in FY 2018-19 to more than 
one-third funded within a decade, to over 75.0% funded within 20 years, 
and to full funding in less than 25 years. 

 
 With additional resources from any Excess Real Estate Transfer Tax transfers 

under the Consolidated Fiscal Policy and/or further negotiated benefit 
adjustments, full funding could potentially be reached even sooner. 

 
Given that the City’s current OPEB funding shortfall has been decades in the making, 
such steady progress toward achieving true sustainability, improved affordability, and 
continued benefit competitiveness would represent a meaningful plan and positive fiscal 
stewardship. 
 
While further monitoring and future adjustments may well be required as circumstances 
continue to change and evolve across the years ahead, it is the project team’s strong 
hope and belief that these actions will position the City of Oakland well to meet its long-
term commitments effectively.   
 

 
 

  



   

 

32 

Appendix A: Detailed Benchmarking Results (2018) 
  

Police New Plan Pre-Medicare23 
      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Notes 

Oakland Employer subsidy is 
based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $768.25 

Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi Party: $1,683.80 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $0.00 

Multi-Party: 
$313.65 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi Party: 
$1,683.80 

No New Tier 

Concord PEMHCA minimum -- Single: $689.99 
Two-Party: 
$1,509.53 

Multi-Party: 
$2,057.79 

All levels: $136.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Fremont Employer subsidy is based 
on YOS:  

<15 YOS, $0 
15 to 19 YOS, $5.00/mo. 

Per YOS 
20+ YOS, $10.00/ mo. Per 

YOS, with a max of 
$500/mo. 

-- Single: $373.65 
Two-Party: 
$1,141.90 

Multi-Party: 
$1,602.85 

All levels: $500.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

-- Single: $259.95 
Two-Party: 
$1,028.20 

Multi-Party: 
$1,489.15 

All levels: $508.30 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by retiree 
with accumulated sick 

leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: 1,088.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 

Multi-Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

                                            
23 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy. 
Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For comparison the two most recent tiers are charted.  
Retiree + Spouse assumed to be Medicare eligible, dependents assumed to be Non-Medicare eligible. 
Contribution amounts shown reflect the costs for the reported highest enrolled plan for each employer unless 
otherwise noted; Enrollment not provided for Fremont, Hayward and Vallejo. For the purposes of comparison, 
CalPERS Kaiser HMO is used.  Fresno and Long Beach: Retiree can use HRA/Trust with accumulated sick leave to 
reimburse retiree medical expenses. The full cost of benefits is covered by the plan up to the point where the value of 
the retiree’s unused sick leave has been exhausted.  Rates shown assumes sick leave is exhausted. 



   

 

33 

      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Notes 

Richmond Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$827 

$225/mo with a 
planned $25 

increase each 
year until 2021 

Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: 

$709.50 
Multi-Party: 
$1,170.45 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 

$827.00 
Multi-Party: 

$827.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

Sacramento RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree 

1%-3% of pay 
based on date of 

hire 

Single: $804.60 
Two-Party: 
$1,598.92 

Multi-Party: 
$2,132.04 

All levels: $0.00 Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi-Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi-Party: 
1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

4% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo PEMHCA minimum + 
RHSA 

-- Single: $632.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,861.45 

All levels: $136.00 Retirees also receive 
RHSA funds (Employer 

contributes 1.5% of 
salary during 
employment) 

  
  



   

 

34 

Police New Plan Medicare24 
      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Other Plan 

Distinctions 
Oakland Employer contributes 

subsidy based on level 
of coverage: 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: $1,1536.50 
Multi Party: $1,683.80 

-- All Levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-

Party:$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 

Concord PEMHCA minimum -- Single: $245.48 
Two-Party: 

$620.51 
Multi-Party: 
$1,031.56 

All levels: $136.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Fremont Employer subsidy is based 
on YOS:  

<15 YOS, $0 
15 to 19 YOS, $5.00/mo. 

per YOS 
20+ YOS, $10.00/ mo. per 

YOS, with a max of 
$500/mo. 

-- Single: $105.40 
Two-Party: 

$252.88 
Multi-party: 

$576.62 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$500.00 
Multi-Party: 

$500.00 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-party: 
$139.18 

Multi-Party: 
$462.92 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$508.30 
Multi-Party: 

$508.30 

Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by retiree 
with accumulated sick 

leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.31 

Multi-Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$827 

$225/mo with a 
planned $25 

increase each 
year until 2021 

Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $0.00 

Multi-Party: 
$144.22 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-party: 

$827.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

                                            
24 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy. 
Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For comparison the two most recent tiers are charted.  
Retiree + Spouse assumed to be Medicare eligible, dependents assumed to be Non-Medicare eligible 
Contribution amounts shown reflect the costs for the reported highest enrolled plan for each employer unless 
otherwise noted. Enrollment not provided for Fremont, Hayward and Vallejo. For the purposes of comparison, 
CalPERS Kaiser HMO is used.  Fresno and Long Beach: Retiree can use HRA/Trust with accumulated sick leave to 
reimburse retiree medical expenses. The full cost of benefits is covered by the plan up to the point where the value of 
the retiree’s unused sick leave has been exhausted.  Rates shown assumes sick leave is exhausted. 



   

 

35 

      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Other Plan 

Distinctions 
Sacramento RHSA: 100% paid by 

retiree 
1%-3% of pay 

based on date of 
hire 

Single: $398.48 
Two-Party: 

$753.52 
Multi-Party: 
$1,164.52 

All levels: $0.00 Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

2% of pay Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$278.86 
Multi-Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi-Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

4% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo PEMHCA minimum + 
RHSA 

-- Single: $187.74 
Two-Party: 

$511.48 
Multi-Party: 

$835.22 

All levels: $136.00 Retirees also receive 
RHSA funds (Employer 

contributes 1.5% of 
salary during 
employment) 

 
  



   

 

36 

Police Classic Plan Pre-Medicare 
      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Notes 

Oakland Employer subsidy is 
based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $768.25 

Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi Party: $1,683.80 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $0.00 

Multi-Party: 
$313.65 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi Party: 
$1,683.80 

No New Tier 

Concord Employer subsidy is based 
on YOS:  

0-9 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum  

10-15 YOS, Two-Party 
rate 

15+ YOS, Multi-Party rate 

-- Single: $57.74 
Two-Party: 

$109.03 
Multi-Party: 

$196.34 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi Party: 
$1,997.45 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 
<15 YOS, $0 

15 to 19 YOS, $6.50/mo. 
per YOS 

20 to 24 YOS, Kaiser 
Health Premium for Single 

coverage at retirement 
25+ YOS, Kaiser Health 
Premium for Two-Party 
coverage at retirement 

-- Single: $105.40 
Two-Party: 

$105.40 
Multi-Party: 

$566.35 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi Party: 
$1,536.50 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward 100% Kaiser Bay Single 
Premium 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: 

$768.25 
Multi-Party: 
$1,229.20 

All levels: $768.25 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $1,088.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 

Multi-Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$614 

$225/mo with a 
planned $25 

increase each 
year until 2021 

Single: $154.25 
Two-Party: 

$922.50 
Multi-Party: 
$1,383.45 

All levels: $614.00 Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

Sacramento RHSA: Employer 
contributes $300/mo. + an 

additional $65/mo. for 
Two-Party coverage 

1%-3% of pay 
based on date of 

hire 

Single: $504.60 
Two-Party: 
$1,233.92 

Single: $300.00 
Two-Party: 

$365.00 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 



   

 

37 

      
 Cost-Share Active EE 

Contribution
Retiree 

Contributions
Employer 

Contributions 
Notes 

Multi-Party: 
$1,767.04 

Multi-Party: 
$365.00 

include dental and 
vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $1,528.94 

(regardless of YOS) 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi-Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

San Jose The employer contributes 
100% of the premium for 
the lowest cost medical 

plan 

8% of pay Single: $12.04 
Two-Party: $17.18 

Multi-Party: 
$30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
1,002.00 

Multi-Party: 
1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 
Vallejo Employer contributes a 

subsidy of up to $300/mo 
-- Single: $468.25 

Two-Party: 
$1,236.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,697.45 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

38 

Police Classic Plan Medicare 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contribution

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
subsidy based on level 

of coverage: 
Single: $768.25 

Two-Party: $1,1536.50 
Multi Party: $1,683.80 

-- All Levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-

Party:$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 

Concord Employer subsidy is based 
on YOS:  

0-9 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum  

10-15 YOS, Two-Party 
rate 

15+ YOS, Multi-Party rate 

-- Single: $57.74 
Two-

Party:$109.03 
Multi-Party: 

$196.34 

Single: $323.74 
Two-

Party:$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 
<15 YOS, $0 

15 to 19 YOS, $6.50/mo. 
per YOS 

20 to 24 YOS, Kaiser 
Health Premium for Single 

coverage at retirement 
25+ YOS, Kaiser Health 
Premium for Two-Party 
coverage at retirement 

-- Single: $105.40 
Two-Party: 

$105.40 
Multi-Party: 

$429.14 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$647.48 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward 100% Kaiser Bay Single 
Basic Premium 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $0.00 

Multi-Party: 
$202.97 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$768.25 

Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.31 

Multi-Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a flat 
dollar subsidy of up to 

$614 

$225/mo with a 
planned $25 

increase each 
year until 2021 

Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $33.48 

Multi-Party: 
$357.22 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$614.00 
Multi-party: 

$614.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

Sacramento RHSA: Employer 
contributes $300/mo. + an 

additional $65/mo. for 
Two-Party coverage 

1%-3% of pay 
based on date of 

hire 

Single: $98.48 
Two-Party: 

$388.52 
Multi-Party: 

$799.52 

Single: $300.00 
Two-Party: 

$365.00 
Multi-Party: 

$365.00 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 



   

 

39 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contribution

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $567.61 

(regardless of YOS) 

2% of pay Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$278.86 
Multi-Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi-Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. Rates 

include dental 

San Jose The employer contributes 
100% of the premium for 
the lowest cost medical 

plan 

8% of pay Single: $12.04  
Two-Party: $17.18 

Multi-Party: 
$30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
$1,002.00 

Multi-Party: 
$1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 

coverage. Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 
Vallejo Employer contributes a 

subsidy of up to $300/mo 
-- Single: $23.74 

Two-Party: 
$347.48 

Multi-Party: 
$671.22 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

40 

Fire New Plan Pre-Medicare25 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
a subsidy based on 
level of coverage:  

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi-Party: $1,764.14 

-- Single: $0  
Two-Party: $0 
Multi-Party: 

$233.31 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,764.14 

No New Tier 
 

Annual deposit of 
unused vacation 

leave into an HRA 

Contra Costa 
County 

Employer and retiree 
each contribute 50% of 
the monthly premium 

increase of the 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay 
Area premium, since 

Plan Year 2015 

-- Single: $119.78 
Two-Party: 

$239.56 
Multi-Party: 

$311.42 

Single: $648.47 
Two-Party: 
$1,296.94 

Multi-Party: 
$1,686.03 

-- 

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 

<25 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum or $10.00/mo. 

per YOS 
25+ YOS, $500.00/mo 

-- Single: $401.55 
Two-Party: 
$1,169.80 

Multi-Party: 
$1,630.75 

All levels: $500.00 Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

1% of pay Single: $259.95 
Two-Party: 
$1,028.20 

Multi-Party: 
$1,489.15 

All levels: $508.30 No New Tier 
 

Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 
Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 

retiree with accumulated 
sick leave.  

The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- Single: $1,088.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 

Multi-Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier   
 

 Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

                                            
25 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy. 
Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For comparison, the two most recent tiers are charted.  
Retiree + Spouse assumed to be non-Medicare eligible. Contribution amounts shown reflect the costs for the 
reported highest enrolled plan for each employer unless otherwise noted.  Enrollment not provided for Fremont, 
Hayward and Vallejo. For the purposes of comparison, CalPERS Kaiser HMO is used.  Fresno and Long Beach: 
Retiree can use HRA/Trust with accumulated sick leave to reimburse retiree medical expenses. The full cost of 
benefits is covered by the plan up to the point where the value of the retiree’s unused sick leave has been exhausted. 
Rates shown assumes sick leave is exhausted 



   

 

41 

 Cost-Share 
Active EE 

Contributions 

Retiree 
Contributions 

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Richmond  The employer 
contributes 100% of the 

second highest cost 
plan based on YOS for 
each level of coverage: 

<15 YOS: 0% 
15-26 YOS, 90% 
27+ YOS, 100% 

$300/mo with a 
planned 

$100increase 
each year until 

2021 

All levels: $0.00 Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,997.45 

No New Tier 
 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 
from rates shown 

due to data 
availability 

Sacramento Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$774/mo. 

$45/mo Single: $65.12 
Two-Party: 

$824.92 
Multi-Party: 
$1,358.04 

Single: $739.48 
Two-Party: 

$774.00 
Multi-Party: 

$774.00 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 

San Francisco Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi-Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

4% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo Employer contributes a 
subsidy of $300/mo 

-- Single: $468.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,236.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,697.45 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

42 

Fire New Plan Medicare26 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
a subsidy based on 
level of coverage:  

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi-Party: $1,764.14 

-- All levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 
 

Annual deposit of 
unused vacation 

leave into an HRA 

Contra Costa 
County 

Employer and retiree 
each contribute 50% of 
the monthly premium 

increase of the 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay 
Area premium, since 

Plan Year 2015 

-- Single: $14.12 
Two-Party: $28.24 

Multi-Party: 
$42.35 

Single: $309.62 
Two-Party: 

$619.24 
Multi-Party: 

$928.87 

-- 

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 

<25 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum or $10.00/mo. 

per YOS 
25+ YOS, $500.00/mo 

-- Single: $133.30 
Two-Party: 

$280.78 
Multi-Party: 

$604.52 

Single $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$500.00 
Multi-Party: 

$500.00 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

1% of pay Single: $0.00 
Two Party: 

$139.18 
Multi-Party: 

$462.92 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$508.30 
Multi-Party: 

$508.30 

No New Tier 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.31 

Multi-Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier   
 

 Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

                                            
26 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy.  Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For 
comparison, the two most recent tiers are charted.  Retiree + Spouse assumed to be Medicare eligible, dependents 
assumed to be Non-Medicare eligible.  Contribution amounts shown reflect the costs for the reported highest enrolled 
plan for each employer unless otherwise noted.  Enrollment not provided for Fremont, Hayward and Vallejo. For the 
purposes of comparison, CalPERS Kaiser HMO is used.  Fresno and Long Beach: Retiree can use HRA/Trust with 
accumulated sick leave to reimburse retiree medical expenses. The full cost of benefits is covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value of the retiree’s unused sick leave has been exhausted. Rates shown assumes sick leave is 
exhausted. 



   

 

43 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Richmond The employer 
contributes 100% of the 

second highest cost 
plan based on YOS for 
each level of coverage: 

<15 YOS: 0% 
15-26 YOS, 90% 
27+ YOS, 100% 

$300/mo with a 
planned 

$100increase 
each year until 

2021 

All levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 

Sacramento Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$387/mo 

$45/mo Single: $65.12 
Two-Party: 

$366.52 
Multi-Party: 

$777.52 

Single: $333.36 
Two-Party: 

$387.00 
Multi-Party: 

$387.00 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 

San Francisco Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$278.86 
Multi-Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi-Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

4% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo Employer contributes a 
subsidy of $300/mo 

-- Single: $23.74  
Two-Party: 

$347.48  
Multi-Party: 

$671.22 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

44 

Fire Classic Plan Pre-Medicare 
   

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
a subsidy based on 
level of coverage:  

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi-Party: $1,764.14 

-- Single: $0  
Two-Party: $0 
Multi-Party: 

$233.31 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,764.14 

No New Tier 
 

Annual deposit of 
unused vacation 

leave into an HRA 

Contra Costa 
County 

Employer contributes up 
to an amount equivalent 

to 87% of the 2015 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay 

Area premium 

-- Data not available   

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 

<25 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum or $10.00/mo 

per YOS 
25+ YOS,  Kaiser 

Health Premium for 
Two-Party coverage at 

retirement 

-- Single: $133.30 
Two-Party: 

$133.30 
Multi-Party: 

$594.25 

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi-Party:  
$1,536.50 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

1% of pay Single: $259.95 
Two-Party: 
$1,028.20 

Multi-Party: 
$1,489.15 

All levels: $508.30 No New Tier 
 

Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 
Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 

retiree with accumulated 
sick leave.  

The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- Single: $1,088.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 

Multi-Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier   
 

 Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Richmond The employer 
contributes 100% of the 

second highest cost 
plan based on YOS for 
each level of coverage: 

<15 YOS: 0% 
15-26 YOS, 90% 
27+ YOS, 100% 

$300/mo with a 
planned 

$100increase 
each year until 

2021 

All levels: $0.00 Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,536.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,997.45 

No New Tier 
 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 
from rates shown 

due to data 
availability 



   

 

45 

   

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Sacramento Retirees receive a 
subsidy based on YOS. 
The maximum subsidy 
is the total of the lowest 
cost health and dental 

plan + $25, which totals 
$860.60 for 2019 

$45/mo Single: $65.12 
Two-Party: 

$717.60 
Multi-Party: 
$1,243.88 

Single: $739.48 
Two-Party: 

$860.60 
Multi-Party: 

$860.60 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 

San Francisco Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$1,528.94 
(regardless of YOS) 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi-Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose The employer 
contributes 100% of the 
premium for the lowest 

cost medical plan 

8% of pay Single: $12.04 
Two-Party: $17.18 

Multi-Party: 
$30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
$1,002.00 

Multi-Party: 
$1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 

Vallejo Employer contributes 
75% of the Plan Year 
2000 Kaiser Bay Area 

non-Medicare Premium 

-- Data not available   

 
  



   

 

46 

Fire Classic Plan Medicare 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
a subsidy based on 
level of coverage:  

Single: $768.25 
Two-Party: $1,536.50 
Multi-Party: $1,764.14 

-- All levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 
 

Annual deposit of 
unused vacation 

leave into an HRA 

Contra Costa 
County 

Employer contributes up 
to an amount equivalent 

to 87% of the 2015 
CalPERS Kaiser Bay 

Area premium 

-- Data not available   

Fremont  Employer subsidy is 
based on YOS: 

<25 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum or $10.00/mo 

per YOS 
25+ YOS,  Kaiser 

Health Premium for 
Two-Party coverage at 

retirement 

-- Single: $133.30 
Two-Party: 

$133.30 
Multi-Party: 

$457.04 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$647.48 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$508.30/mo 

1% of pay Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: 

$139.18 
Multi-Party: 

$462.92 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$508.30 
Multi-Party: 

$508.30 

No New Tier 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits 
is covered by the plan 
up to the point where 

the value of the retirees 
unused sick leave has 

been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.31 

Multi-Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier   
 

 Rates shown 
include dental and 

vision 

Richmond The employer 
contributes 100% of the 

second highest cost 
plan based on YOS for 
each level of coverage: 

<15 YOS: 0% 
15-26 YOS, 90% 
27+ YOS, 100% 

$300/mo with a 
planned 

$100increase 
each year until 

2021 

All levels: $0.00 Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$647.48 
Multi-Party: 

$971.22 

No New Tier 

Sacramento Retirees receive a 
subsidy based on YOS. 
The maximum subsidy 
is the total of the lowest 
cost health and dental 

plan + $25, which totals 
$860.60 for 2019 

$45/mo Single: $65.12 
Two-Party: 

$119.98 
Multi-Party: 

$814.96 

Single: $333.36 
Two-Party: 

$633.54 
Multi-Party: 

$860.60 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 



   

 

47 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

San Francisco Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to 

$567.61 
(regardless of YOS) 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77  
Two-Party: 

$278.86  
Multi-Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi-Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose The employer 
contributes 100% of the 
premium for the lowest 

cost medical plan. 

8% of pay Single: $12.04 
Two-Party: $17.18 

Multi-Party: 
$30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
$1,002.00 

Multi-Party: 
$1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% 
of dental and vision 

coverage. Rates 
shown include dental 

and vision 

Vallejo Employer contributes 
75% of the Plan Year 
2000 Kaiser Bay Area 

non-Medicare Premium 

-- Data not available   

 
  



   

 

48 

Miscellaneous New Plan Pre-Medicare27 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
the PEMHCA minimum 

of $136/mo., plus 
$425.42/mo. for retirees 

with at least 10 YOS 

-- Single: $206.83 
Two-Party: 

$975.08 
Multi Party: 
$1,436.03 

All levels: 
$561.42 

No New Tier 

Concord PEMHCA minimum -- Single: $685.26 
Two-Party: 
$1,497.74 

Multi Party: 
$2,023.17 

All levels: $136.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 
shown include 

dental and vision 
Fremont Employer contributes a 

subsidy based on YOS:  
0 to 5 YOS, $0  

6 to 10 YOS, $170/mo.  
11 to 19 YOS, $230/mo. 

20+ YOS, $300/mo. 

-- Single: $590.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,358.5 

Multi Party: 
$1,819.45 

All levels: $300.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS: 

<10 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum 

10+ YOS, $274.72/mo. 

-- Single: $493.53 
Two-Party: 
$1,261.78 

Multi Party: 
$1,722.73 

All levels: $274.72 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $1,088.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 

Multi Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $435/mo. 

Two or Multi-Party: 
$567/mo. 

-- Single: $333.25 
Two-Pary: 
$969.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,430.45 

Single: $435.00 
Two-Party: 

$567.00 
Multi Party: 

$567.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

                                            
27 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy.     
Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For comparison, the two most recent tiers are charted.   
Retiree + Spouse assumed to be non-Medicare eligible.  Contribution amounts shown reflect the costs for the 
reported highest enrolled plan for each employer unless otherwise noted.  Enrollment not provided for Fremont, 
Hayward and Vallejo. For the purposes of comparison, CalPERS Kaiser HMO is used.  Fresno and Long Beach: 
Retiree can use HRA/Trust with accumulated sick leave to reimburse retiree medical expenses. The full cost of 
benefits is covered by the plan up to the point where the value of the retiree’s unused sick leave has been exhausted. 
Rates shown assumes sick leave is exhausted. 



   

 

49 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Sacramento RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree 

-- Single: $804.60 
Two-Party: 
$1,598.92 

Multi Party: 
$2,132.04 

All levels: $0.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi Party: 
$1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

2% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo PEMHCA minimum + 
RHSA 

-- Single: $632.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,400.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,861.45 

All levels: $136.00 Retirees also receive 
RHSA funds 

(Employer contributes 
1.5% of salary during 

employment) 

 
  



   

 

50 

Miscellaneous New Plan Medicare28 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
the PEMHCA minimum 

of $136/mo., plus 
$425.42/mo. for retirees 

with at least 10 YOS 

-- Single: $0 
Two-Party: 

$86.06 
Multi Party: 

$409.80 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$561.42 
Multi Party: 

$561.42 

No New Tier 

Concord PEMHCA minimum -- Single: $240.75 
Two-Party: 

$608.72 
Multi Party: 

$996.94 

All levels: $136.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 
shown include 

dental and vision 
Fremont Employer contributes a 

subsidy based on YOS:  
0 to 5 YOS, $0  

6 to 10 YOS, $170/mo.  
11 to 19 YOS, $230/mo. 

20+ YOS, $300/mo. 

-- Single: $145.74 
Two Party: 

$469.48 
Multi Party: 

$793.22 

All levels: $300.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contribute a 
subsidy based on YOS: 

<10 YOS, PEMHCA 
minimum 

10+ YOS, $274.72/mo. 

-- Single: $49.02 
Two Party: 

$372.76 
Multi Party: 

$696.50 

All levels: $274.72 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two Party: 
$1,400.31 

Multi Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $435/mo. 

Two or Multi-Party: 
$567/mo. 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: $80.48 

Multi Party: 
$404.22 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$567.00 
Multi Party: 

$567.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

                                            
28 Rates shown assume maximum employer subsidy. 
Comparators may have prior tiers that are not shown. For comparison, the two most recent tiers are charted.  
Retiree + Spouse assumed to be Medicare eligible, dependents assumed to be Non-Medicare eligible.  Contribution 
amounts shown reflect the costs for the reported highest enrolled plan for each employer unless otherwise noted.  
Enrollment not provided for Fremont, Hayward and Vallejo. For the purposes of comparison, CalPERS Kaiser HMO is 
used.  Fresno and Long Beach: Retiree can use HRA/Trust with accumulated sick leave to reimburse retiree medical 
expenses. The full cost of benefits is covered by the plan up to the point where the value of the retiree’s unused sick 
leave has been exhausted.  Rates shown assumes sick leave is exhausted. 



   

 

51 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Sacramento RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree 

-- Single: $398.48 
Two-Party: 

$753.52 
Multi Party: 
$1,164.52 

All levels: $0.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on YOS:  

<5 YOS, ineligible;  
5 to <10 YOS, 0% 

10 to <15 YOS, 50% 
15 to <20 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

2% of pay Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$278.86 
Multi Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

San Jose VEBA: Defined 
Contribution 

2% of pay N/A N/A -- 

Vallejo PEMHCA minimum + 
RHSA 

-- Single: $187.74 
Two-Party: 

$511.48 
Multi-Party: 

$835.22 

All levels: $136.00 Retirees also receive 
RHSA funds 

(Employer contributes 
1.5% of salary during 

employment) 

 
  



   

 

52 

Miscellaneous Classic Plan Pre-Medicare 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions 

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
the PEMHCA minimum 

of $136/mo., plus 
$425.42/mo. for retirees 

with at least 10 YOS 

-- Single: $206.83 
Two-Party: 

$975.08 
Multi-Party: 
$1,436.03 

All levels: 
$561.42 

No New Tier 

Concord Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on 

Medicare eligibility and 
level of coverage 

-- Single: $149.44 
Two-Party: 

$290.09 
Multi Party: 

$412.43 

Single: $671.82 
Two-Party: 
$1,343.65 

Multi Party: 
$1,746.74 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 
shown include 

dental and vision 
Fremont Employer contributes a 

subsidy of up to $300/mo, 
regardless of YOS 

-- Single: $590.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,358.50 
Multi Party: 
$1,819.45 

All levels: $300.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employer contributes a 
subsidy of $226.01/mo. 

-- Single: $542.24 
Two-Party: 
$1,310.49 
Multi Party: 
$1,771.44 

All levels: $226.01 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $1,089.94 
Two-Party: 
$1,330.30 
Multi Party: 
$1,391.88 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $224/mo. 

Two or Multi-Party: 
$344/mo. 

-- Single: $544.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,202.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,663.45 

Single: $224.00 
Two-Party: 

$344.00 
Multi Party: 

$344.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

Sacramento RHSA: Employer 
contributes $300/mo. + an 

additional $65/mo. for 
Two-Party coverage 

<10 YOS, 0% 
10 to 14 YOS, 50% 
15 to 19 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

-- Single: $504.60 
Two-Party: 
$1,233.92 

Multi-Party: 
$1,767.04 

Single: $300.00 
Two-Party: 

$365.00 
Multi Party: 

$365.00 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $1,528.94 

(regardless of YOS) 

Employees hired 
on or after 
1/10/2009:  
2% of pay 

Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$394.70 
Multi Party: 

$943.62 

Single: $1,225.27 
Two-Party: 
$1,528.94 

Multi Party: 
$1,528.94 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 



   

 

53 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions 

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

San Jose The employer contributes 
100% of the premium for 
the lowest cost medical 

plan 

7.5% of pay Single: $12.04  
Two-Party: $17.18 
Multi-Party: $30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
$1,002.00 

Multi Party: 
$1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

Vallejo Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $300/mo 

-- Single: $468.25 
Two-Party: 
$1,236.50 

Multi-Party: 
$1,697.45 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

54 

Miscellaneous Classic Plan Medicare 
      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions 

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

Oakland Employer contributes 
the PEMHCA minimum 

of $136/mo., plus 
$425.42/mo. for retirees 

with at least 10 YOS 

-- Single: $0 
Two-Party: 

$86.06 
Multi Party: 

$409.80 

Single: $323.74 
Two-Party: 

$561.42 
Multi Party: 

$561.42 

No New Tier 

Concord Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on 

Medicare eligibility and 
level of coverage 

-- Single: $89.23 
Two-Party: 

$169.68 
Multi Party: 

$270.38 

Single: $287.52 
Two-Party: 

$575.04 
Multi Party: 

$862.56 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 
shown include 

dental and vision 
Fremont Employer contributes a 

subsidy of up to $300/mo, 
regardless of YOS 

-- Single: $145.74 
Two-Party: 

$469.48 
Multi Party: 

$793.22 

All levels: $300.00 Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 

Fresno RHSA: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- All levels: 
$1,240.00 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Hayward Employers contribute a 
flat dollar subsidy of 

$226.01/mo. 

-- Single: $97.73 
Two-Party: 

$421.47 
Multi Party: 

$745.21 

All levels: $226.01 Dental premiums 
excluded from rates 
shown due to data 

availability 

Long Beach Trust: 100% paid by 
retiree with accumulated 

sick leave.  
The full cost of benefits is 
covered by the plan up to 
the point where the value 
of the retirees unused sick 
leave has been exhausted 

-- Single: $762.08 
Two Party: 
$1,400.31 
Multi Party: 
$2,019.72 

All levels: $0.00 No New Tier 
 

Rates shown include 
dental and vision 

Richmond Employer contributes a 
subsidy based on level of 

coverage: 
Single: $182/mo. 

Two or Multi-Party: 
$284/mo. 

-- Single: $0.00 
Two-Party: 

$363.48 
Multi Party: 

$687.22 

Single: $182.00 
Two-Party: 

$284.00 
Multi Party: 

$284.00 

Dental and vision 
premiums excluded 

from rates shown due 
to data availability 

Sacramento RHSA: Employer 
contributes $300/mo. + an 

additional $65/mo. for 
Two-Party coverage 

<10 YOS, 0% 
10 to 14 YOS, 50% 
15 to 19 YOS, 75% 

20+ YOS, 100% 

-- Single: $98.48 
Two-Party: 

$388.52 
Multi-Party: 

$799.52 

Single: $300.00 
Two-Party: 

$365.00 
Multi Party: 

$365.00 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

San 
Francisco 

Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $567.61 

(regardless of YOS) 

2% of pay Single: $45.77 
Two-Party: 

$278.86 
Multi Party: 
$1,086.50 

Single: $379.78 
Two-Party: 

$567.61 
Multi Party: 

$567.61 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental coverage. 

Rates include dental 



   

 

55 

      

 Cost-Share Active EE 
Contributions

Retiree 
Contributions 

Employer 
Contributions 

Notes 

San Jose The employer contributes 
100% of the premium for 
the lowest cost medical 

plan. 

7.5% of pay Single: $12.04  
Two-Party: $17.18 
Multi-Party: $30.80 

Single: $495.92 
Two-Party: 
$1,002.00 

Multi Party: 
$1,492.84 

Retiree pays 100% of 
dental and vision 
coverage. Rates 

shown include dental 
and vision 

Vallejo Employer contributes a 
subsidy of up to $300/mo 

-- Single: $23.74 
Two-Party: 

$347.48 
Multi-Party: 

$671.22 

All levels: $300.00 -- 

 
  



   

 

56 

Appendix B: Actuarial Projections – Recommended Policy 
 
The following projections were developed by Cheiron assuming that Police and Fire 
receive Kaiser plus one premiums trended to FY 2019-20 and then capped, with the 
PEMHCA minimum plus a $425 subsidy for new hires after FY 2019-20.  A 30-year 
closed amortization period is assumed, with the City funding pay-go plus an additional 
2.5% of salary annually.  Dollars shown are in millions. 
 
Fund Cash Flows 
 
 
 

  

Implicit & 
ACA Explicit

Net Net Retiree Total Contributions Invest Net Cash

FY Ending Benefits Benefits % of Pay Contribs Benefits Employer Employee Income Flow

2018 6.1$      21.2$     7.6% 25.3$     52.5$     37.2$        -$         0.7$             10.7$           

2019 6.7        22.9      8.0% 28.1      57.7      39.6          -           1.4               11.4            

2020 7.1        24.3      8.3% 30.9      62.3      40.9          -           2.3               11.7            

2021 8.3        27.5      9.2% 36.2      72.0      45.5          -           3.1               12.8            

2022 8.4        28.2      9.2% 38.6      75.1      46.5          -           4.1               14.0            

2023 9.6        29.0      9.5% 46.3      85.0      48.8          -           5.1               15.3            

2024 10.5      30.0      9.7% 49.4      89.9      50.9          -           6.2               16.7            

2025 11.0      30.8      9.8% 52.0      93.8      52.5          -           7.4               18.1            

2026 11.9      31.8      10.0% 55.0      98.7      54.7          -           8.8               19.7            

2027 12.9      32.8      10.2% 57.9      103.6     56.9          -           10.2             21.5            

2028 13.7      33.7      10.3% 60.7      108.1     59.0          -           11.8             23.3            

2029 14.7      34.7      10.4% 63.4      112.8     61.2          -           13.5             25.3            

2030 15.5      35.4      10.5% 65.8      116.8     63.1          -           15.4             27.5            

2031 16.0      36.0      10.5% 68.0      120.0     64.4          -           17.4             29.8            

2032 16.3      36.5      10.4% 69.7      122.6     65.6          -           19.5             32.3            

2033 17.0      37.1      10.4% 71.6      125.6     67.1          -           21.9             35.0            

2034 17.2      37.4      10.2% 73.0      127.6     68.0          -           24.5             37.8            

2035 17.4      37.5      10.0% 74.0      128.8     68.5          -           27.2             40.9            

2036 17.4      37.4      9.8% 74.7      129.6     68.9          -           30.2             44.3            

2037 17.4      37.3      9.5% 75.3      129.9     69.1          -           33.5             47.9            

2038 17.8      37.0      9.3% 75.9      130.6     69.5          -           37.0             51.7            



   

 

57 

Assets and Liabilities 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AL: Actuarial Liability 

UAL: Unfunded Actuarial Liability 

  

July 1, AL Assets UAL
Funded 
Ratio %

Discount 
Rate

2017 854.5$   4.3$      850.2$   0.5% 3.58%

2018 895.9$   15.0$     880.9$   1.7% 3.58%

2019 937.9$   26.4$     911.5$   2.8% 3.58%

2020 713.5$   38.2$     675.3$   5.4% 4.86%

2021 721.1$   51.0$     670.1$   7.1% 5.07%

2022 724.3$   65.0$     659.3$   9.0% 5.35%

2023 736.1$   80.3$     655.8$   10.9% 5.51%

2024 749.2$   97.0$     652.2$   12.9% 5.66%

2025 764.3$   115.1$   649.2$   15.1% 5.79%

2026 776.0$   134.9$   641.1$   17.4% 5.96%

2027 791.3$   156.3$   634.9$   19.8% 6.09%

2028 813.2$   179.7$   633.5$   22.1% 6.14%

2029 829.4$   205.0$   624.5$   24.7% 6.26%

2030 847.6$   232.4$   615.2$   27.4% 6.36%

2031 862.6$   262.2$   600.4$   30.4% 6.50%

2032 876.2$   294.5$   581.7$   33.6% 6.68%

2033 882.4$   329.5$   552.9$   37.3% 6.94%

2034 882.3$   367.3$   515.1$   41.6% 7.28%

2035 916.4$   408.2$   508.2$   44.5% 7.28%

2036 953.5$   452.5$   501.0$   47.5% 7.28%

2037 994.2$   500.4$   493.9$   50.3% 7.28%



   

 

58 

GASB Actuarially Determined Contribution 
 

FY Ending
Net Normal 

Cost %
Net Normal 

Cost
Amortization 

Payment*

Actuarially 
Determined 

Contribution Payroll % Pay

2018 10.3% 37.2$        33.2$            70.4$           360.3$      19.5%

2019 10.5% 38.7          35.4             74.1            369.3        20.1%

2020 10.6% 40.3          37.8             78.0            378.5        20.6%

2021 8.3% 32.3          28.9             61.1            388.0        15.8%

2022 8.4% 33.5          29.6             63.1            397.7        15.9%

2023 8.5% 34.7          30.1             64.9            407.7        15.9%

2024 8.6% 36.0          31.1             67.1            417.8        16.1%

2025 8.7% 37.4          32.1             69.4            428.3        16.2%

2026 8.8% 38.8          33.2             72.0            439.0        16.4%

2027 8.9% 40.2          34.2             74.4            450.0        16.5%

2028 9.0% 41.7          35.4             77.1            461.2        16.7%

2029 9.2% 43.3          37.0             80.2            472.8        17.0%

2030 9.3% 44.9          38.3             83.2            484.6        17.2%

2031 9.4% 46.6          39.7             86.3            496.7        17.4%

2032 9.5% 48.3          41.0             89.3            509.1        17.5%

2033 9.6% 50.1          42.1             92.3            521.8        17.7%

2034 9.7% 52.0          42.7             94.7            534.9        17.7%

2035 9.8% 54.0          42.6             96.6            548.3        17.6%

2036 10.0% 56.0          45.3             101.3           562.0        18.0%

2037 10.1% 58.1          48.5             106.6           576.0        18.5%

2038 10.2% 60.3          52.3             112.6           590.4        19.1%

* Amortization is based on a closed 30 year level percent of pay.



   

 

59 

Assets and Liabilities (Explicit Subsidy Component Only) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AL: Actuarial Liability 

UAL: Unfunded Actuarial Liability 

 

July 1, AL Assets UAL
Funded 
Ratio %

Discount 
Rate

2017 652.0$   4.3$      647.7$   0.7% 3.58%

2018 681.9$   15.0$     666.9$   2.2% 3.58%

2019 712.4$   26.4$     685.9$   3.7% 3.58%

2020 510.0$   38.2$     471.8$   7.5% 4.86%

2021 511.2$   51.0$     460.2$   10.0% 5.07%

2022 509.2$   65.0$     444.1$   12.8% 5.35%

2023 513.6$   80.3$     433.3$   15.6% 5.51%

2024 519.2$   97.0$     422.2$   18.7% 5.66%

2025 526.1$   115.1$   410.9$   21.9% 5.79%

2026 530.7$   134.9$   395.9$   25.4% 5.96%

2027 538.0$   156.3$   381.7$   29.1% 6.09%

2028 549.9$   179.7$   370.3$   32.7% 6.14%

2029 558.1$   205.0$   353.1$   36.7% 6.26%

2030 567.6$   232.4$   335.2$   40.9% 6.36%

2031 575.0$   262.2$   312.8$   45.6% 6.50%

2032 581.4$   294.5$   286.9$   50.7% 6.68%

2033 583.1$   329.5$   253.6$   56.5% 6.94%

2034 580.7$   367.3$   213.4$   63.3% 7.28%

2035 600.3$   408.2$   192.1$   68.0% 7.28%

2036 621.7$   452.5$   169.2$   72.8% 7.28%

2037 645.2$   500.4$   144.8$   77.6% 7.28%



   

 

60 

GASB Actuarially Determined Contribution (Explicit Subsidy Component Only) 
 

 
 
 
 

FY Ending
Net Normal 

Cost %
Net Normal 

Cost
Amortization 

Payment*

Actuarially 
Determined 

Contribution Payroll % Pay

2018 7.5% 27.1$        25.3$            52.4$           360.3$      14.6%

2019 7.7% 28.3          26.8             55.1            369.3        14.9%

2020 7.8% 29.4          28.4             57.9            378.5        15.3%

2021 5.2% 20.3          20.2             40.4            388.0        10.4%

2022 5.3% 21.0          20.3             41.3            397.7        10.4%

2023 5.3% 21.7          20.3             42.0            407.7        10.3%

2024 5.4% 22.5          20.5             43.0            417.8        10.3%

2025 5.4% 23.3          20.8             44.1            428.3        10.3%

2026 5.5% 24.1          21.0             45.1            439.0        10.3%

2027 5.6% 25.0          21.1             46.1            450.0        10.2%

2028 5.6% 25.9          21.3             47.1            461.2        10.2%

2029 5.7% 26.8          21.6             48.4            472.8        10.2%

2030 5.7% 27.7          21.6             49.4            484.6        10.2%

2031 5.8% 28.7          21.6             50.3            496.7        10.1%

2032 5.8% 29.7          21.3             51.1            509.1        10.0%

2033 5.9% 30.8          20.8             51.6            521.8        9.9%

2034 6.0% 31.9          19.6             51.5            534.9        9.6%

2035 6.0% 33.0          17.7             50.7            548.3        9.2%

2036 6.1% 34.2          17.1             51.3            562.0        9.1%

2037 6.1% 35.4          16.4             51.8            576.0        9.0%

2038 6.2% 36.7          15.3             52.0            590.4        8.8%



City of Oakland
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Funding Policy
!

Prepared by 
Finance Department 

Adopted by the City Council 
February 5, 2019



Table of Contents
Page NumberTopic

Policy
OPEB Program Objectives 
OPEB Funding Goals 
Benefit Program
Funding Policy for Sustainable Benefits 
Actuarial Approach 
Transparency and Reporting 
Review of Funding Policy 
Glossary

2
2
2
3
4
5
6
6

6-9

1



1.0 POLICY
!

This policy details the City of Oakland’s funding approach for Other Post-Employment Benefits 
(OPEB) as provided to retirees in addition to pensions. The purpose of this funding policy is to set 
forth the City’s overall OPEB funding and benefit goals, the benchmarks that will be used to measure 
progress, and the methods and assumptions that will be used to develop and maintain these 
benchmarks.

2.0 OPEB PROGRAM OBJECTIVES

The primary objectives of the City’s overall OPEB program goals are to provide benefits that are:

■ Affordable in the near-term, without crowding out the City’s capacity to deliver quality 
services to the public or to provide reasonable salary increases to active employees;

■ Sustainable over the long-term, ensuring that benefits will be secure and reliable for 
career employees throughout retirement, with substantial intergenerational equity for 
taxpayers in regard to the funding of benefit costs; and,

■ Competitive, to support effective recruitment and retention of a strong municipal 
workforce.

The specific elements of this funding policy are intended to provide a balanced approach for 
addressing these goals within the parameters of the City’s resources.

3.0 OPEB FUNDING GOALS

3.1 The City of Oakland funds OPEB in two primary ways.

■ Explicit Subsidy

First, the City provides a benefit payment to eligible City retirees that is used to offset some or 
all of the cost of participation in health coverage. Prior to attaining Medicare eligibility, City 
retirees participate in the same health plans offered to active employees, and parallel plans 
integrated with Medicare are provided for retirees who have reached the age of Medicare 
eligibility. The City’s benefit payment toward coverage in these plans is referred to in 
accounting terms as an explicit subsidy, because it is structured as a contribution toward the 
stated premium costs for these plans.

■ Implicit Subsidy

Second, the City also provides an implicit subsidy toward retiree medical coverage. This cost 
to the City results from the pooled approach to the health plans in which the City participates 
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) pursuant to 
the Public Employees’ Medical & Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). Under these PEMHCA 
plans, the same rates are charged for active and retired employee participants on a blended 
basis. In turn, because the underlying cost for retirees, on average, will be higher than the 
underlying costs for active employees, this blended CalPERS rate effectively leads to a subsidy 
of the true costs for retirees in the aggregate. This implicit subsidy takes the form of the higher 
payments by the City for active employee premiums than would otherwise be required if 
retirees were not covered under the same PEMHCA pool with blended rates. As of the initial

2



adoption of this OPEB Funding Policy, PEMHCA does not offer the option of using separate 
rates for active employees and retirees, such that this implicit subsidy is unavoidable under the 
PEMHCA program.

3.2 Explicit Subsidy Funding Goals

To fund the explicit subsidy, the City participates in an irrevocable Section 115 Trust 
(hereinafter “OPEB Trust”). The objective in providing employer contributions to this OPEB 
Trust is to accumulate sufficient assets during a member’s period of active employment to fully 
finance the benefits the member receives throughout retirement.

Toward this objective, the City establishes the following OPEB Trust funding and related 
goals:

■ Maintain a stable or increasing ratio of trust assets to accrued liabilities, with the goal of 
reaching a 100% funded ratio (full funding) for all explicit subsidy benefits. For this 
purpose, the funded ratio is defined as the actuarial value of trust assets divided by the 
trust’s actuarial accrued liability for explicit subsidy benefits.

■ Develop a pattern of stable and regular contribution rates when expressed as a percentage 
of member payroll as measured by valuations prepared in accordance with the principles of 
practice prescribed by the Actuarial Standards Board, ultimately reaching a minimum 
employer contribution level at least equal to the Actuarially Determined Contribution 
(ADC) associated with explicit subsidy benefits.

■ Manage the cost of benefits through labor-management partnership and collective 
bargaining to reach and maintain an affordable and sustainable level of coverage.

3.3. Implicit Subsidy Funding Goals

For any implicit subsidy, the City’s objective will be to ensure that combined employer and 
employee/retiree contributions are made in full for annual premiums, such that this funding 
requirement will consistently be met on a yearly basis.

4.0 BENEFIT PROGRAM

The City’s goal is to provide an affordable, sustainable, and competitive level of retiree healthcare 
benefits for career employees.

4.1 Labor-Management Partnership

Specific benefit structures are subject to collective bargaining for represented employees, and 
the City respects the negotiation process and values its labor-management partnerships.

In parallel with each biennial OPEB actuarial valuation, and in advance of any rounds of 
collective bargaining, the City should seek to review its retiree healthcare benefits relative to 
offerings among other Bay Area governments and large California cities.

As retiree healthcare benefits are periodically reviewed and renegotiated, the following 
principles will serve as guidelines for pursuit of any adjustments:

3



■ Until the City’s OPEB Trust is fully funded, the affordability and sustainability of the 
City’s retiree medical benefits offerings will be evaluated on the basis of whether the City’s 
ADC for explicit subsidy benefits can be fully funded with a combination of full Pay-Go 
Funding (“pay-go”) plus a supplemental employer contribution of no higher than 2.5% of 
payroll.

■ Periodic adjustments to benefits will be pursued as required to ensure full funding and plan 
sustainability under the terms of this policy. If the ADC for explicit subsidy benefits 
exceeds pay-go costs plus a supplemental City payment of 2.5% of payroll, then the City 
will seek to negotiate approaches to modify benefits to close this sustainability gap.
Among the potential approaches for closing this gap, the City may pursue retiree benefit 
modifications and/or contributions toward future OPEB coverage from active employees.

■ The City will also seek to negotiate reopeners for retiree health care benefits in any year 
during which the trigger outlined in Section 5.3 below is met for waiving or deferring 
supplemental City OPEB contributions beyond pay-go.

■ Any proposed OPEB changes shall be accompanied by an actuarial valuation projecting the 
impact on the ADC, funded ratio, and overall OPEB actuarial liability.

4.2 CalPERS Policies and Practices

The City will also partner with its employee groups’ representatives to explore and potentially 
advocate for appropriate policy changes by CalPERS, to the extent the City continues to 
provide retiree healthcare benefits through the CalPERS system. Such policy changes may 
include, but are not limited to the development of plan design changes that do not incur penalty 
costs under the Affordable Care Act, and the separation of rates for active and retiree 
healthcare plans to eliminate the implicit subsidy.

5.0 FUNDING POLICY FOR SUSTAINABLE BENEFITS

5.1 Pay-Go Funding

At a minimum, the City will fully fund its pay-go commitments to eligible retirees and 
beneficiaries for the benefits they receive each year, inclusive of any implicit subsidy resulting 
from the blending of active and retiree healthcare rates.

5.2 OPEB Trust Funding

The City will continue to make contributions to its OPEB Trust. Once full funding has been 
achieved on an actuarially sound basis, and as full funding is sustained thereafter, all explicit 
subsidy payments on behalf of retirees and beneficiaries shall be made from the Trust, with the 
City also contributing the full ADC associated with explicit subsidy payments each year to 
ensure the continued health and sustainability of the Trust. Once full funding of the explicit 
subsidy is achieved, the annual City contribution will represent the actuarial normal cost for 
the explicit subsidy benefits, reflecting the dollars required to be set aside on a current basis so 
that active members’ benefits will be fully funded upon retirement.

4



Until the Trust is 100% funded for explicit subsidy benefits, the City will make contributions 
in excess of the annual pay-go cost for current retirees and beneficiaries toward achieving full 
funding, under the policy outlined below.

■ Beginning in FY2020, the City will contribute an additional 2.5% of payroll above pay-go 
into the OPEB Trust on an annual basis until the liability associated with the explicit 
subsidy is fully funded.

■ Consistent with Section 4.1 of this policy, if the sum of annual pay-go costs plus the 
supplemental contribution as outlined above is less than the ADC for explicit subsidy 
payments in that same year, then the City will seek to negotiate benefit and/or employee 
contributions sufficient to close this sustainability gap.

For the purposes of the above calculations, the ADC will be calculated with regard to retiree 
benefits exclusive of future implicit subsidy payments, as the City is committed to funding the 
implicit subsidy component of the OPEB liability on an ongoing basis through its general 
employee healthcare rates.

5.3 OPEB Trust Funding Adjustments

In addition to the above annual contributions, the City will continue to make further one-time 
contributions to the OPEB Trust when Excess Real Estate Transfer Tax (RETT) thresholds are 
met as provided in the City of Oakland Consolidated Fiscal Policy. This approach will help to 
build OPEB funding more rapidly, thereby improving plan stability and reducing future 
contribution requirements.

In the event of a severe economic downturnthe City will seek to continue the above 
payment structure in full, but, if authorized via Council Resolution, may temporarily 
reduce or defer its supplemental payments above pay-go until the City’s revenues have 
recovered.

For the purpose of this provision: a severe downturn shall be defined as a fiscal year in which 
aggregate General Purpose revenues are projected to be negative and/or less than 50% of 
forecast growth in the Consumer Price Index for the ensuring fiscal year; and recovery shall be 
defined as the next fiscal year following a fiscal year when General Purpose revenues are 
estimated to have again been positive and exceeded 50% of forecast growth in the Consumer 
Price Index.

In no event shall the City draw down from its OPEB Trust to meet pay-go costs if the ADC is 
not made in full for that same fiscal year.

6.0 ACTUARIAL APPROACH

6.1 Biennial Valuations

An OPEB actuarial valuation will be performed at least biennially.

6.2 Actuarial Method and Assumptions

The actuarial funding method used to develop the benchmarks will be the entry age normal 
actuarial cost method. Any unfunded liability will be amortized over a closed 30-year period.

5



j

Other actuarial assumptions used will be those adopted by the City Finance Department based 
on the advice and recommendation of the OPEB actuary. The actuary shall conduct an 
investigation into each system’s experience at least every five (5) years, and use the results of 
the investigation to form the basis for those recommendations, consistent with Actuarial 
Standards of Practice (ASOP) and Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 
guidance.

7.0 TRANSPARENCY AND REPORTING

Funding of the City’s OPEB program should be transparent to all stakeholders, including City 
employees, retirees, employee organizations, elected officials, and Oakland residents and taxpayers. 
In support of this transparency, the following information shall be available:

7.1 Report to City Council

When each actuarial valuation for the City’s OPEB plan is completed, typically on a biennial 
basis, a copy shall be transmitted to City Council along with a Finance Department report 
regarding progress toward full funding of the plan and ADC, and overall advancement of this 
policy’s OPEB plan goals of affordability, sustainability, and competitiveness.

7.2 Website Publication

These OPEB actuarial valuations and the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR) shall be published on the City’s website. The CAFR includes information regarding 
the City’s OPEB plan, contributions to the OPEB Trust, and the funded status of the plan.

7.3 Budget Transparency

The City’s annual operating budget shall include clear and specific appropriations for 
contributions to the OPEB Trust and pay-go costs.

8.0 REVIEW OF FUNDING POLICY

Sustainable OPEB funding requires a long-term commitment. To ensure that adequate resources are 
being accumulated to meet the City’s OPEB goals, the City will review this policy biennially in 
conjunction with completion of its OPEB actuarial valuations.

9.0 GLOSSARY

Definitions of key OPEB-related terms are listed in Exhibit A.

6



EXHIBIT A

GLOSSARY

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS: Assumptions as to the occurrence of future events affecting costs, 
such as: mortality, withdrawal, disablement and retirement; changes in compensation and Government 
provided benefits; rates of investment earnings and asset appreciation or depreciation; and other 
relevant items.

ACTUARIAL COST METHOD: A procedure for determining the Actuarial Present Value of Plan 
benefits and expenses and for developing an actuarially equivalent allocation of such value to time 
periods, usually in the form of a Normal Cost and an Actuarial Liability. This policy specifies use of 
the Entry Age Normal Actuarial Cost Method.

ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION (ADC): The amount actuarially calculated 
each year required to be contributed by an employer to a retirement trust to ensure sufficient funds to 
pay future benefits. This amount is a combination of the employer’s share of Normal Cost plus the 
unfunded liability amortization payment. In past years, annual contributions to a plan were known as 
the ARC for “actuarially required contribution” or “annual required contribution.” For most purposes, 
the terminology of “ARC,” “ADC,” and Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution (ADEC) is 
similar.

ACTUARIAL GAIN (LOSS) (Called Actuarial Experience Gain and Loss): A measure of the 
difference between actual experience and that expected based upon a set of Actuarial Assumptions 
during the period between two Actuarial Valuation dates, as determined in accordance with a 
particular Actuarial Cost Method.

ACTUARIAL LIABILITY: That portion, as determined by a particular Actuarial Cost Method, of 
the Actuarial Present Value of projected benefits which will not be paid by future Normal Costs.

ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE (Present Value): The value of an amount or series of amounts 
payable or receivable at various times, determined as of a given date by the application of a particular 
set of Actuarial Assumptions. For purposes of this standard, each such amount or series of amounts 
is: adjusted for the probable financial effect of certain intervening events (such as changes in 
compensation levels, Social Security, marital status, etc.); multiplied by the probability of the 
occurrence of the event (such as survival, death, disability, termination of employment, etc.) on which 
the payment is conditioned; and discounted according to an assumed rate (or rates) of return to reflect 
the time value of money.

ACTUARIAL VALUATION: The determination, as of a valuation date, of the Normal Cost, 
Actuarial Liability, Actuarial Value of Assets, and related Actuarial Present Values for the Plan. The 
Actuarial Valuation is presented in the form of a detailed report prepared by professional actuaries.

ACTUARIAL VALUE OF ASSETS: The value of cash, investments and other property belonging 
to a Plan, as Used by the actuary for the purpose of an Actuarial Valuation. The purpose of an 
Actuarial Value of Assets is to smooth out fluctuations in market values. This way, long-term costs are 
not distorted by short-term fluctuations in the market. Currently, the City’s OPEB Actuarial Valuation 
relies on the Market Value of Assets.

AMORTIZATION: The portion of the Plan contribution which is designed to pay interest on and to 
amortize the Unfunded Actuarial Liability.

7



CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CalPERS): CalPERS is a 
California state agency that administers pensions, active employee healthcare benefits, and retiree 
healthcare benefits for participating public employers. ;

DISCOUNT RATE: The estimated long-term interest yield on the investments that are expected to be 
used to finance the payment of benefits, with consideration given to the nature and mix of current and 
expected investments and the basis used to determine the Actuarial Value of Assets.

ENTRY AGE NORMAL COST METHOD: An Actuarial Cost Method under which the Actuarial 
Present Value of the projected benefits of each individual included in an Actuarial Valuation is 
allocated in a manner that produces a level annual cost over the earnings of the individual between 
entry age and assumed retirement age. This is the Actuarial Cost Method to be used for the City’s 
OPEB Actuarial valuation pursuant to this policy.

EXPLICIT SUBSIDY: The Explicit Subsidy component of the City’s post-employment healthcare 
program involves those direct payments to retirees used to offset some or all of the cost of 
participation in their health plans, exclusive of any Implicit Subsidy that may reduce retiree healthcare 
premium costs.

FUNDED RATIO: The Actuarial Value of Assets expressed as a percentage of the Actuarial Liability.

GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (GASB) STATEMENTS NO. 74
AND NO. 75: GASB establishes the accounting standards used in U.S. state and local government 
financial statements. Issued in June 2015, GASB Statements No. 74 and No. 75 set forth the 
accounting standards for public sector post-employment benefit retirement plans and the governments 
that sponsor them. GASB Statement No. 74 applies to OPEB plans that administer benefits for 
governments, and GASB Statement No. 75 applies to governments that participate in OPEB plans. 
Under GASB Statement No. 75, which is initially required for the City’s FY2019 Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report, the City must now reflect its full unfunded OPEB liability on its balance 
sheet.

IMPLICIT SUBSIDY: An Implicit Subsidy for retiree medical coverage may occur when the rates 
charged for active and retired employees are blended for all participants under a common plan. 
Because the underlying cost for retirees, on average, will be higher than the underlying costs for 
actives, this blended rate effectively leads to an Implicit Subsidy of the true costs for retirees in the 
aggregate.

NORMAL COST: That portion of the Actuarial Present Value of the Plan benefits and expenses 
which is allocated to a valuation year by the Actuarial Cost Method. In general terms, this represents 
the funding that should be set aside in each year of current service for a plan participant to ensure full 
funding of their post-employment benefits by the time of retirement, assuming all actuarial 
assumptions are met.

PAY-GO FUNDING: Also sometimes referred to as Pay-as-You-Go funding, Pay-Go Funding in the 
context of OPEB is the practice of paying only for the costs of benefits for those who have already 
retired, in contrast to prefunding post-employment benefits during a plan participant’s years of active 
service.

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ MEDICAL & HOSPITAL CARE ACT (PEMHCA): The PEMCHA 
law governs the CalPERS health programs, and includes certain requirements regarding the 
continuation of healthcare benefits into retirement for participating public employers.

8



SECTION 115 TRUST: Established under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code, this is an 
irrevocable trust dedicated for specific retirement benefits. The City’s structure for prefunding OPEB 
is a Section 115 Trust administered by CalPERS.

UNFUNDED ACTUARIAL LIABILITY: The excess of the Actuarial Liability over the Actuarial 
Value of Assets.

!

9


	BAC 2019-01-30 Agenda
	BAC 2019-01-30 AgendaMaterials 01 Budget Priorities Survey Analysis - BAC
	BAC 2019-01-30 AgendaMaterials 02 - OPEB Staff Report
	BAC 2019-01-30 AgendaMaterials 03 - OPEB Consultant Analysis
	BAC 2019-01-30 AgendaMaterials 04 - OPEB Policy

